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e Asdisclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 December 2020, e« FHUAATHPEA_T_THF+_F_+NHZ

Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy tendered his resignation as a non-executive NEFTIKEE > Stephen Gregory McCoyft £ B IRE
Director with effect from 9 March 2021. HAFHTESEHEE - - —F=ANBE
S

e Asdisclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 31 December 2020, o FHUAABDHPEA-Z_ZTHE+_-_HF=+—HZ
Mr. Wong Tin Yu tendered his resignation as the Company's secretary REMEE BRFREBEFAAT ZAEW
with effect from 31 December 2020 and Mr. Shek Wing Wa has been 2 BT+ A=+ —HEEX; MA
appointed as the Company'’s secretary with effect from 1 January 2021. KELAGCBDEZEARABZABME BT

——F—B—HiEEM-

e As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2021, Mr. o  FHUAABHHA_Z _—F+tEABZASM
Wu Fei tendered his resignation as an executive Director and the general BE RRELCRENIAEBRITES KR
manager of the Group with effect from 5 July 2021 and Mr. Chung KIERE AT _—FtHAAHEEN miEs
Cheuk Fan Marco has been appointed as the executive Director with BhELEEZEAVTES BT —FtA
effect from 5 July 2021. A HEER-
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YUAN Feng, aged 38, has been appointed as the deputy chief
executive officer of the Group in June 2019, as well as a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company and a responsible officer of
CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited. He is also a member of
the Company'’s remuneration committee. Mr. Yuan is the senior vice
president of planning and finance department of CITIC Securities
Company Limited (“CITIC Securities”), the controlling shareholder
of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment Company Limited (“CITIC
Securities Overseas Investment”), which is the controlling shareholder
(as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) of the Company since April
2019 and the chief financial officer of CLSA Hong Kong Holdings
Limited, which is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC Securities.
On 12 April 2021, he has been appointed as a director of CITIC
Securities Overseas Investment. Mr. Yuan previously worked as a senior
accountant of finance department of CITIC Corporation Limited from
February 2015 to April 2019, and as an audit manager of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu from July 2008 to July 2014. Mr. Yuan obtained his
master’s degree in world economics from University of International
Relations in 2008, and has been a member of The Chinese Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2014.

Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco, aged 42, is currently the Head of
Legal and Compliance of the Company and he has joined the CLSA
Group as the Group Head of Legal in April 2021. Prior to joining
the CLSA Group, Mr. Chung worked at Morgan Stanley between
November 2011 to April 2021 holding various positions including
Regional Head of Legal for the Investment Management Private Funds
business; Regional Head of Legal for the Investment Banking Mergers
and Acquisitions business; and the Regional Chief Operating Officer for
the Investment Management Private Funds business.

Prior to joining Morgan Stanley, Mr. Chung worked as a corporate
attorney at Slaughter and May’s London and Hong Kong offices
between 2004 to 2011. Mr. Chung is a qualified attorney in England
& Wales, Hong Kong, Australia (New South Wales) and New Zealand.
Mr. Chung obtained a Bachelor of Laws and Commerce conjoint
degree from the University of Auckland.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Jiong, aged 52, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 21 May 2018 and currently is the Chairman of the
Board, the chairman of the Company’s nomination committee and
a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company. He concurrently
serves as a director of CITIC Securities Overseas Investment and CITIC
Securities International USA, LLC., as well as a chief treasury officer and
person-in-charge of the treasury department of CITIC Securities. After
Mr. Li joined CITIC Securities in 1996, he had served as the manager
of the international cooperation division of the information centre of
China International Trust Investment Corporation (renamed to CITIC
Group Corporation), manager of development department of CITIC
International Cooperation Co., Ltd., manager of the bond department,
deputy general manager of the treasury department and person-in-
charge of the treasury department of CITIC Securities. Mr. Li obtained
a bachelor’s degree in International Finance from the University of
International Business and Economics in 1992 and a master’s degree in
Business Administration from Tsinghua University in 2000.

Mr. XU Jianqgiang, aged 41, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since 21 May 2018 and currently is the chairman of the
Company's corporate governance committee and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company. He currently serves as a deputy head
of the equity derivatives business line of CITIC Securities and also a
head of prime brokerage business, chief executive officer of wealth
management business at CLSA. After Mr. Xu joined CITIC Securities in
August 2005, he had served as an analyst of the research department,
product development manager of the equity derivatives business line,
head of trading of the equity derivatives business line and head of
equity derivatives of CITIC Securities International Company Limited.
Mr. Xu obtained a bachelor’'s degree in Mathematics and Applied
Mathematics from Peking University in 2003 and a master’s degree in
Mathematics from the University of British Columbia in 2005.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Jianfeng, aged 46, joined the Group in June 2019. He is a
member of each of the Company’s audit committee and remuneration
committee. Mr. Wu has served as the lead engineer of American
Express Company (a company listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
stock code: AXP) since 9 December 2019. Mr. Wu served as a senior
manager of information technology department, an executive manager
of technology center, and as a deputy director of technology center
and a director of technology development department of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange from 2000 to 2014. Mr. Wu graduated from Tsinghua
University and obtained his bachelor’'s degree of Engineering in
Computer Science and Technology in 1993 and his doctorate degree of
Engineering in Computer System Architecture in 2000.

Mr. Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD, aged 49, joined the Group
in June 2019. He is the chairman of the Company’s remuneration
committee and a member of each of the Company’s audit committee,
nomination committee and corporate governance committee. Mr.
Satterfield currently serves as an executive director and chief executive
officer of China Post & Capital Global Asset Management Limited
("CPG") since September 2015, and is a registered responsible
officer of CPG recognized by the Securities and Futures Commission
for engaging in Type 1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on
securities) and Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities. Mr.
Satterfield is the chairman of China Post Global (UK) Limited and
a director of EBA Investments (Advisory) Limited and RQSI Limited
("RQSI”). He joined RQSI in September 1999, and had served as its
president and chief operating officer. Mr. Satterfield graduated from the
US Navy Nuclear Field “A” School (“US Navy”) in 1992 and received
his Honorable Discharge from the US Navy in 1997.
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Ms. HU Zhaoxia, aged 70, joined the Group in June 2019. She is the
chairman of the Company’s audit committee and a member of each
of the Company’s corporate governance committee and nomination
committee. From 2012 to September 2015, Ms. Hu served as the
chief financial officer of (Zanhua (China) Equipment Leasing Co.,
Ltd.*) B (PE) REREABRAE. Prior to this, from October
1978 to January 2012, Ms. Hu worked as deputy director of the
accounting system division, deputy general manager and director of
the accounting division of the finance and accounting department of
the Head Office of Bank of China; deputy manager of the accounting
department and assistant general manager of Bank of China London
Branch; deputy general manager of Bank of China Sydney Branch;
chief financial officer of the retail banking business department of Bank
of China and senior supervisor of the office of the board of supervisors
of the Head Office of Bank of China. Ms. Hu graduated from Tianjin
University of Finance and Economics with major in Finance in 1978
and obtained her senior accountant qualification, which was granted
by the committee of assessment of Bank of China in 1992.

* for identification purpose only
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Dear shareholders:

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of
CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
collectively known as the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
audited annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December

2021, business review as well as the prospect of our business.

2021 was another challenging year where COVID-19 variants
continued to cause lockdowns and severe prevention measures in
many countries. In contrast, global stock markets showed strong and
steady growth throughout 2021 and major stock markets closed near
the record high.

In 2021, the Group recorded a total income of approximately
HK$8.18 million (2020: HK$11.86 million) and incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$56.54 million (2020: loss of approximately
HK$71.64 million). The loss was attributable to the decrease in
the total client trading volume caused by (i) the additional licence
conditions imposed to CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited, our New
Zealand subsidiary (“CLSAP NZ”) by the Financial Market Authority
("FMA"), (ii) the regulatory reform introduced by the Australian
Securities and Investments Commission (“ASIC") which largely reduces
leverage and imposes many new regulations to over-the-counter
("OTC") products for retail clients in Australia, and (iii) restriction to
offline seminars and client meetings under the COVID-19 prevention
measures.

Despite CLSAP NZ's tremendous effort to cooperate and negotiate
with the FMA throughout 2021, it remains uncertain as to whether or
not, and by when, the additional licence conditions can be removed.
Since CLSAP NZ clients can only close their outstanding positions
and CLSAP NZ is not allowed to conduct any trading activities under
these conditions, New Zealand client trading volume has decreased by
99.8% in 2021 from 2020. It is expected that CLSAP NZ can no longer
generate revenue from its operation until these conditions are being
removed. As announced on 25 January 2022, after reviewing such
uncertainty, the operating and financial challenges faced by CLSAP NZ,
the Board had decided to suspend the operation of CLSAP NZ.
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STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RIAT BAR B

In Australia, the ASIC has introduced two significant regulatory reforms
in 2021 which impacts all the local brokers who offer OTC derivative
products to retail clients. While the new reforms are regarded as
broadly positive for investors, the implementation has caused both
time and monetary costs and impacted the business momentum.
After achieving the remarkable 110% growth of trading volume from
Australian clients in the first 6 months of 2021 as compared to the
same period of 2020, the yearly growth of the client trading volume
in Australia has been reduced to 11% because retail clients can only
trade smaller sizes with the same amount of capital under the new
regulations.

In Hong Kong, the Group has launched the bullion trading services in
July 2021. The client trading volume of the bullion products accounted
for more than 10% of the total trading volume in the second half
of 2021 and is growing rapidly in the first quarter of 2022. With the
experience of Australian and New Zealand businesses, the Group aims
to provide Hong Kong clients with flexible, transparent and fair trading
conditions and client money protection. The Company’s management
believes that the strong capital base and good reputation of the Group
will reinforce its competitiveness in the local bullion trading industry
and allow the new business to generate growth for the Group.

Under the repeating pandemic, the Group’s top priority has been
providing support and safety measures to its employees, such as face
masks, disinfection products, vaccine leaves and flexible working
arrangements. The Group has robust IT system to allow employees
to maintain high productivity and efficient operations while working
remotely.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

EEM ASICE_Z_—FHETMEEAN
EENE RETHARSEZFIEMOTCH
EE MBI IEICE o #EAMAILE E BT
REREERRN BMERERNMEARSLS
PR MM AE U EBXBERRE B
NERFRGEE_S_—FEHMAAR_-ZZ
TERPABERRIN0%E HRMREES
EXFRENLUEREFSRETER/NREN
RG> BNERXZENFERREE11%-

rEE AEER_ZE_—SFtAELESE
RERB ETBEMNERATIZEL R
T EFETHFERZENI0%U L THEZ
TEICFETERBERRIERE RERMNA
MAREBNER AEBEETATEREFRIER
HEBIZT EZHNAFNIRZHENEESZERR
BoARNBBEEEG AEERAKNELE
MERBEFNEEEMARAETEAMESTBRZ1T
(VBRI UEBHEBAAEETRIER

ERBHNEBT AEENEREHERMA
BTRMXFNZ2HE AIMREH‘HOS H
FYm - BERBRNEET I - AEEHE
BRARAENEMMKAES JUBETER
ITHFIERFSEENNSREE -



STATEMENT FROM THE DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Looking ahead into 2022, with uncertainties from the COVID-19
variants, Central Bank policy shifts and geopolitical risks remain, the
Company's management will remain prudent and maintain liquidity
for the volatile business environment, while at the same time ensuring
sufficient investment for sustainable business growth.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank our employees for their
professionalism and contributions, and thank all stakeholders for
their continued support to the Group. We truly wish the pandemic
will come to an end this year and allow the recovery of the global
economy.

YUAN Feng
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 14 March 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PG 2wk B oy i

The Board presents the audited consolidated results of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2021, together with the audited
comparative figures for the corresponding year in 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Business review

During the year under review, the Group recorded continuous growth
in client trading volume in Australia and Hong Kong. The trading
volume from Australian clients has increased by 11% amid the strictly
tightened regulations, while the trading volume from Hong Kong
clients has increased by 190 times, driven by the newly launched
bullion products. The products with the highest trading volume were
AUD/USS$, Gold and US$/CNH.

Following the launch of new products such as crude oil, US dollar
index, Volatility Index and major stock indexes in 2020, the Group
further introduced new instruments covering commodities, foreign
exchange, European stock indexes, Australian and US single stocks,
enriching the product line on our one-stop multi-asset trading
platform.

In Australia, 2021 was a challenging year with comprehensive
regulatory reforms regarding over-the-counter (“OTC") derivative
products for retail clients. In particular, the new regulations limit the
maximum leverage for different underlying asset classes, enhance
protection for retail clients and define rules for product design and
distribution. These regulations not only increased the operating costs,
but also reduced client trading volume because Australian retail clients
need 3 to 6 times more initial capital to maintain the same trade
size. Notwithstanding these challenges, the Company's management
welcomes these reforms.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

EFEgELREAEEARE_T _—F+ A2
—t+—HLEFEZEERRAEE BR_-T
“EFERMANEERLRHEF -

EFOERMBRE
E#EEE

REEFER AEEMNBEBNEEENERLR
SEFBERE - ERENHZERT  BNER
NRGEEEFEET11%; MEMELNE
TEBERNTE T SEEFPHNXRZEERT
190 RBERENERRRTET &

EMET/BEARE

el N SPAVE ST S QAR E
REIERESHTERE FEEBHHEREX
SEm NEBURIEH BREERSHER
ERAN-—UEASZTEERZ TR LEEEM

4R o

RN —E_—FRRAREN—F BE
ERETERRGIHRS (TOTCY) TEEM
THETT2ENEERNE - Hp MEREK
BRNEEHNRE T RAERLEE MRaHET
EXEPHNRE UHEMRKSHMBEETILT R
Ale BEREAERMTEERE  BRDT
ERRGE ARNMEEEMERRNTERR
FEZUHIF6ENTRES T EMEF AR
RERBE-BEFEEERE ARREERE
BinELEE-



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In Hong Kong, the business has achieved substantial growth in 2021
from launching the bullion trading service. Based on the best practices
in the industry, guidelines from global regulators and our experience
in Australia and New Zealand, the bullion products are designed to
provide clients with fair and transparent pricing, low latency order
execution and real-time auto-cut functions. We are also one of a few
local brokers who provide protection to client funds by segregating
client money into trust accounts at local banks. Given the valuable
and positive feedback from Hong Kong clients, the Company’s
management believes the bullion products will expand the market
share in 2022.

Regarding the New Zealand business, since the imposition of the
additional licence conditions by the Financial Market Authority
("FMA") in 2020, CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited (the Company’s
subsidiary in New Zealand, “CLSAP NZ") has been fully cooperative
with the FMA and had engaged independent legal and compliance
advisers to mitigate failures and fulfil regulatory requirements. Despite
our best effort throughout 2021, it remains uncertain as to whether or
not, and by when, the additional licence conditions can be removed.
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 25 January
2022, after reviewing such uncertainties, the operating and financial
challenges faced by CLSAP NZ, the Board has decided to suspend the
operation of CLSAP NZ. The Company’s management expects the
suspension will materially reduce the operating loss of CLSAP NZ, and
the process may take approximately one year. The plan is to reallocate
available resources to explore other business developments.

In the foreseeable future, the Company’'s management expects
that the FX and CFD margin trading industry is still under intense
competition, and operating costs will increase with the regulatory
requirements. In the long run, it is expected that clients will eventually
choose brokers with sufficient capital and a good reputation, licensed
by prudential regulators, for their long-term investment. This trend
is advantageous to the Group. The Company’'s management trusts
that by restlessly improving client experience and enhancing the
quality of our services, the Group can achieve steady and sustainable
development and fulfil the commitments to our shareholders.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Total income

The total income of the Group decreased by approximately 31% to
approximately HK$8.18 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
from approximately HK$11.86 million for the year ended 31 December
2020.

A. Leveraged foreign exchange and other trading
income

The leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income of
the Group decreased by approximately 29% to approximately
HK$2.72 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from
approximately HK$3.83 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. This change was mainly due to the 99.8% decrease in
New Zealand client trading volume during the year ended 31
December 2021 as compared to the year ended 31 December
2020.

B. Fee and commission income

The fee and commission income of the Group decreased to
approximately HK$63,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021
from approximately HK$91,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020. This was mainly due to the decrease in commission earning
as a result of the lower trading volume.

C. Other income

The other income of the Group decreased by approximately
25% to approximately HK$5.01 million for the year ended 31
December 2021 from approximately HK$6.66 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. We have received approximately
HK$0.26 million during 2021 and HK$1.83 million during 2020
of government subsidies from the JobKeeper Scheme granted by
Australia Government for supporting the payroll of the Group's
employees. The management fee income in relation to rental
reimbursement was increased to approximately HK$2.70 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021 from approximately
HK$2.54 million for the year ended 31 December 2020.
Moreover, there was a reversal of provision for the FMA penalty
of approximately HK$1.27 million during 2021. The interest
income decreased to approximately HK$99,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2021 from approximately HK$1.03 million
for the year end 31 December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Total expenses

The total expense of the Group decreased by approximately 29% to
approximately HK$65.80 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 from approximately HK$92.43 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

Referral expenses and other charges

The referral expenses and other charges of the Group decreased by
approximately 46% to approximately HK$1.11 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021 from approximately HK$2.05 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The decrease was mainly due to the
lower trading volume from the customers referred by services providers
and decreased transaction fees paid to remittance channels.

Staff costs

The staff costs of the Group increased by approximately 33% to
approximately HK$24.71 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 from approximately HK$18.61 million for the year ended 31
December 2020. Since the second half of 2020, the Group has been
recruiting talents to help improve service quality and develop our global
business.

Depreciation & amortisation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment decreased to
approximately HK$1.91 million for the year ended 31 December 2021
from approximately HK$3.12 million for the year ended 31 December
2020.

B IR E <z b o b

A<

AREBEBYHBEE _ZE 5+ _-_A=+—
HIEEE#X92,430,0008 TRV AI29% E
HE_Z _—F#+_-_B=Z+—HLEEEH
65,800,000 7T °

HTRAXREMER

FEENENHIAEMERREE S 2%
FE+ZBA=+—HILFE#2,050,000%8 T
DL % EHE_E_—F+ A =+—H
LEFEH1,110,0008 7 BB R L ETEHN
W?ﬁ@mﬁﬁu%ﬁm&“—Thﬁiﬁ%
EFREBZRZZERR LD

BIE

FEBNEINAHEE_Z 25+
B=+—HBIEFE#18,610,0008 g 1049
BREHE_ZT T —F+HA=1+—HLEHF
E#24,710,0008 - B EHFTHF

B AER-—BHEBRBATURSRBEEK
BREIKERK

R
ME-BEARBINTERBE_Z _ZTF+

B=+—HLLEEE#3,120,0008 TR /=
BHE_E_—F+__B=+—HLEFELY
1,910,000 7T ©

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %

IR

\_



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B PR E 2w b o B

Depreciation - right-of-use assets

Depreciation for right-of-use assets decreased to approximately
HK$9.72 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from
approximately HK$11.72 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The drop was mainly due to the moving of office in Hong Kong.

Other operating expenses

The other operating expenses of the Group decreased to approximately
HK$28.35 million for the year ended 31 December 2021 from
approximately HK$56.92 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. This was mainly due to combined effect of the decrease of
professional and consultancy fees of HK$8.07 million, the provision for
the FMA penalty of HK$5.06 million during the year end 31 December
2020 and the foreign exchange gain of HK$3.59 million during the
year ended 31 December 2021 as opposed to foreign exchange loss of
HK$9.63 million during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Net loss

Loss for the year of the Group reduced by approximately 21% to
approximately HK$56.54 million for the year ended 31 December
2021 from approximately HK$71.64 million for the year ended 31
December 2020.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

During the year under review, the operations of the Group were
financed principally by equity capital, cash generated by the Group's
business operations and cash and bank deposits.

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances held by the Group
amounted to HK$234.5 million (2020: HK$287.1 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio calculated on the basis of net debts (lease liabilities)
over the total shareholders’ equity as at 31 December 2021 was
approximately 3.6% (2020: approximately 3.2%).

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group generally financed its operations with internally generated
resources and funds. All other financing methods will be considered
as long as such methods are beneficial to the Company. Bank deposits
mainly are in US$, AUD, NZD and RMB.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

During the year under review, the Group recorded a net foreign
exchange gain of approximately HK$3.6 million (2020: net foreign
exchange loss of approximately HK$9.6 million). This was mainly due
to the year-end translation of assets denominated in foreign currency
(mainly US dollar) into local reporting currency by the Company's
subsidiaries in Australia and New Zealand. In addition, the Group
recorded a currency translation loss of approximately HK$7.8 million
(2020: currency translation profit of approximately HK$13.7 million),
mainly due to the year-end translation of net assets (denominated
in local currency) of the Australia and New Zealand subsidiaries, into
the Group’s reporting currency (HK dollar). These contributed to
approximately HK$4.2 million exchange loss in total for the year under
review (2020: approximately HK$4.1 million exchange profit in total).
The foreign currency risk is managed proactively by regular reviews of
the currency positions in the basket of currency mix. To minimize the
risk exposure, the Group has a hedging strategy based on prevailing
market conditions and working capital requirements of subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year under review, the Group's capital structure consists of
equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES
DURING THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group did not have
any significant investments held, material acquisitions and disposals.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021,
employees (2020: a total of 35). Total staff costs including Directors’

the Group engaged a total of 35

remuneration for the year under review amounting to approximately
HK$24.71 million (2020: approximately HK$18.6 million). The Group's
remuneration policies are in line with the prevailing market practices
and are determined on the basis of performance and experience
of individual employees. The Group provides retirement benefits in
accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the place where
the staff is employed.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, there was no bank balance of the Group
used to secure the banking facilities (as at 31 December 2020: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021
are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SOLUTIONS TO ADDRESS THE DISCLAIMER OF AUDIT
OPINION MADE BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR IN
THE 2019 ANNUAL REPORT

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 April 2020
(the "Announcement”), the fundamental reason for the disclaimer of
audit opinion made by the independent auditor for the year ended
31 December 2019 was due to denial of the auditor’s access to the
evidence relating to the Group's Legacy Systems (as defined in the
Announcement) and the data contained in the databases and servers
maintained by Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”, the Group's
then IT service provider) which are necessary for the purpose of the
audit. To tackle the issues mentioned, the Board had spent tremendous
effort to migrate the IT platform completely from Banclogix to CLSA
Limited (“CLSA", the new IT service provider) since August 2019.
The Board had adopted and accomplished different measures of
IT platform migration including (i) shared drives and file servers
migration (completed in December 2019); (ii) trading servers migration
(completed in December 2019); and (iii) e-mail migration (completed
in October 2019). Also as disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 9 March 2020 and 23 March 2020, the Company had
terminated a renewed information technology services agreement with
Banclogix and entered into a new information technology services
agreement with CLSA which had taken effect on 17 March 2020.
The Board, including the Company’s audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), believed that the above solutions already addressed the
issues raised by the auditor under the disclaimer of opinion and there
was no material carry forward effect on the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020 as the issues had already been resolved
by the new IT service provider.

As disclosed, due to the predecessor auditor's disclaimer of audit
opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2019, the Company's auditor expressed a qualified opinion
in relation to (i) the opening balances on the consolidated financial
position of the Group as at 31 December 2020; (i) corresponding
figures in the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020; and (iii) the related disclosures included in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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VIEW ON AUDIT OPINION

As disclosed in the section of “Independent Auditor's Report” of this
annual report, the Company'’s auditor expressed a qualified opinion on
the consolidated financial statements for the yer ended 31 December
2021 in relation to the possible effects of the matters described in the
basis for qualified opinion on the comparability of the related 2021
figures and the 2020 figures in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (the "Audit Qualification”).

The Audit Qualification is a consequential result arising from the
qualified opinion expressed by the Company's auditor, containing
the qualification in respect of (i) the opening balances on the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020;
(i) corresponding figures in the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2020; and (iii) the related disclosures
included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2020, the details of which have been set out
in the auditor’s report for 2020 Financial Statements dated 16 March
2021.

The Board and the Audit Committee agree with the auditor’s view in
respect of the Audit Qualification. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the management'’s position on the major judgement areas and there
is no disagreement by the Audit Committee with the management’s
position on the qualified opinion issued by the Company’s auditor.

The Audit Committee had further discussed with the Company's
auditor the impact of the Audit Qualification in subsequent financial
year and agreed that the Audit Qualification would likely be removed
for the financial year 2022 as the possible effects of the items do not
affect the results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
and will not recur.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS, AREAKRE - BEFEEREFERTE
CAPITAL ASSETS AND BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

The Group plans to: KEEEE .

1. Diversify customer base to include both Chinese speaking and 1. EBIUZ Tt ELE > AE2IKEEMIE
non-Chinese speaking individuals and high net worth customers EBEATURSFEEFRREERT ;
globally;

2. Develop institutional client segment by providing competitive 2. FHRABELREEBRFIHNARBTESHER

liquidity solutions; FE FHEREERDE ;
3. Expand the range of our financial services and products; and 3. BAEMNEMRBRERSER &

4. Continuously strengthen cybersecurity and information 4. BEMNMBRBERZE2ERENARE  BARE
technology capability to improve customer experience. g
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
HE WS

The Board presents its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's performance for the year ended 31
December 2021 by business and geographical segments are set out in
Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

ANNUAL RESULTS

The annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 are set out in the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income” of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the results and of the financial position
of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
published audited financial statements, prepared on the basis set out in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

EEURLERERSERAEERE
- EtB=t—HULEEZRERESH
BwE-

FEXBRODBER
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EBANGEMHRERWEE29-
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AEERE-F-—F+-A=+—HILEE

REBRME DI D2 RBOMBIIESH
B RS

FEXS
rEBRBE_ZT_—F+A=+—HLF
EZFEXEHNEAEFRGE2EWRERI—
gie

REARR S
EEgTEEMBE S _—F+°"RB=+—

HEFERERBARE (C2E2TF 1 HE)

MBERRE

TR REBEFEESVHBREMEMH ZEER R
REEERAMEMBRFEZEZERMBHRR
BE NRZECTREZEERMBRER &
BELTTBREEZREMBREZHD -

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-B=1+-HLEE

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

2T ZZITHE  Z-NF 2\ CZ—tH&

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FHET TEx TEx FET

Total income LN & 8,180 11,861 18,018 471,11 514,932

Profit/(loss) before tax bRIRATRR (5518 (57,912) (81,158) (180,457) 51,757 35,019

Profit/(loss) for the year FRER,/ (58 (56,542) (71,636) (179,988) 34,249 27,354
Total comprehensive income/(expense) FR2ENRG/ (B 458

for the year (64,299) (57,956) (181,291) 19,144 31,212
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As at 31 December

®+ZA=+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—EZ-§ TZEIZEF  Z-hF  ZE-N\F EZ—tHF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TET FERT TERT
Total assets BEMSE 330,616 430,436 504,244 1,139,242 1,400,785
Total liabilities BRIEE (61,859) (97,380) (113,263) (567,536) (853,558
268,757 333,056 390,981 571,706 547,227
Total equity and liabilities mERRaR 330,616 430,436 504,244 1,139,242 1,400,785
Net current assets REEEFE 263,146 321,925 376,907 712,811 505,056
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBER 274,997 336,633 406,415 767,819 550,638
BUSINESS REVIEW E$qE]
Business Review and Future Prospect EBOERREKA =

Since the listing of the Company's shares (the “Share(s)”) on the Stock BZ&ATKN (MRH1) R_E—=ZFt8=
Exchange on 3 July 2013, the Company has been implementing H R EiZSFF /LR A AT B B i H 275t
its business plans to accomplish its business objectives. A review B> MEAENHEFZBEZ AEBEREFK[O
of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion BEERBREAEBRKEBERE ZFHmHN 8

on the Group's future business development are provided in the fTEARHIRSIRIEEE 5 5m KD

sections of “Statement from the Deputy Chief Executive Officer” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis"”.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

MHRRAREER

=z A

I=N-0

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using financial FRAMBERIVARIEZHAEEBERNREZD

key performance indicators is provided in the section of “Management  #TE R EIBE Z stam h Do —& o

Discussion and Analysis”.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group, some of which are inherent to its business and some
are affected by the external environment. The Group’s major risks are
summarized below.

(1) Financial risks

The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a variety
of key financial risks including credit risk arising from defaults or
deterioration in creditworthiness of counterparties, borrowers
and security issuers; market risk (such as interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk), and liquidity risk arising from shortage of
funds and/or illiquidity of securities. Details of the aforesaid key
risks and risk mitigation measures are set out in “Financial Risk
Management” in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) Macro-economic environment

Adverse macro-economic changes may affect the business
environment such as the trade war between China and the US
and Brexit, which may in turn affect the operating results. It is
therefore important that the Group is able to keep track of such
changes of macro-economic environment and swiftly adjusts
its operating policy and business plan under different market
conditions.

(3) Information technology systems

Financial services sector is highly dependent on information
technology systems and cyber security. Any material disruption
or slowdown of our IT systems, such as system upgrade failures,
system errors, viruses or cyber attacks could cause data loss or
operation interruption. Therefore, we invest continuously in our IT
systems so as to keep up with the latest cyber security standard.
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(4) Legal and compliance risks

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 6 August
2019, 24 January 2020 and 12 May 2020, the Company
obtained the injunction order and issued a writ of summons
against Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”) in the High
Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (the
“High Court”). In November 2020, the three licensed subsidiaries
of the Company, namely CLSA Premium International (HK)
Limited, CLSA Premium Pty Limited and CLSA Premium New
Zealand Limited (“CLSAP NZ"), have joined the Company as
plaintiffs to claim against Banclogix for, among others, repudiatory
breach by Banclogix of the IT Service Agreement entered into
with Banclogix on 28 December 2018 (“IT Service Agreement”)
and other costs and damages associated with such breach.
The Company received a writ of summons together with an
indorsement of claim dated 6 May 2020 issued in the High Court
by Banclogix against the Company. Banclogix claims against the
Company for, among others, alleged repudiatory breach of the IT
Service Agreement and entitlement to certain fees therein.

These two actions with Banclogix as mentioned above will be
heard by the court together and it has not proceeded to the trial
stage yet.

As disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 24 June
2020, CLSAP NZ received a statement of claim filed by the
Financial Markets Authority of New Zealand in the High Court of
New Zealand for alleged breaches of the Anti-Money Laundering
and Countering Financing of Terrorism Act 2009 by CLSAP NZ. As
disclosed in the Company's announcement dated 13 September
2021, the penalty hearing had taken place on 5 July 2021. On 10
September 2021, the judgment is entered against CLSAP NZ for
the four civil liability acts and a pecuniary penalty of NZD770,000
has been imposed.

Further, our businesses may be subject to change of laws and
regulations, tightening of regulatory compliance requirements
and practices of the regulators which are out of our control.
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The above is not intended to be an exhaustive list of all principal
risks and uncertainties faced by the Group. These may change
over time as new risks and uncertainties emerge and others
cease to be of concern. The Directors will constantly evaluate
the Group's business objectives and may change or modify plans
against the changing market condition to avert or minimise the
risks so as to attain sustainable business growth of the Group.

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a green
policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection among
staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling programme for
office consumables such as toner cartridges and paper to minimise the
operation impact on the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of power
consumption, we have a policy that lighting, air-conditioners and office
equipment shall be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements. The Group has been allocating resources to ensure
the Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated applicable rules
and regulations. During the reporting period, the Group had complied
with the laws, regulations and regulatory requirements of the places
where the Group operates in all material respects including the Listing
Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961,
as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands, the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other
relevant rules, regulations and guidelines of the regulatory authorities.
The Group had maintained all necessary licenses for its businesses
throughout the reporting period.

Relationships with key stakeholders

The Group's success also lies on the support from key stakeholders,
including employees, customers, bankers, service providers and
shareholders. Thus, the Group maintains close relationship with our
stakeholders.
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Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important and
valuable assets of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human
resources management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate incentives,
and opportunities within the Group for career advancement.

The employees are paid a fixed salary and may be granted other
allowances based on their position. In addition, discretionary bonuses
may also be awarded to our employees based on the employee’s
performance. We conduct regular appraisals to ensure our employees
receive feedback on their performance and discuss with them on their
needs.

Customers

The Group is committed to provide excellent services to our customers
with a view to maintaining steady business and asset growth as well as
long term profitability.

To facilitate the Group's business plan and development, the Group
will upgrade its information technology systems from time to
time, such as the rolling out of a mobile foreign exchange trading
application to make it more convenient for existing and future clients
to trade forex products with the Group’s companies and to strengthen
the Group’s competitiveness. Besides, the Group will keep recruiting
experienced and talented personnel with relevant experience and
knowledge in leveraged foreign exchange to strengthen the Group's
business. The Group will launch a variety of marketing activities to
rebuild our brand and expand our customer base, including holding
seminars, launching digital marketing campaign and sponsoring
events.

Bankers

The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers and
we are able to obtain funds from our bankers as and when necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's key service providers comprise system and equipment
vendors, external consultants who provide professional services, and
other business partners who provide value-added services to the
Group.
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Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’ rights
and our investor relations can be found in the section of “Corporate
Governance Report”.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is set
out in the Corporate Governance Report contained in this annual
report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in Note
12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company's share capital during the year ended 31
December 2021 are set out in Note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements and the section headed “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity” of this annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the year
under review are set out in the section of “Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Equity”.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the
share premium account and retained earnings of the Company are
distributable to the Company’s shareholders subject to the provisions
of the Company’s memorandum and articles of association and
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.
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As at 31 December 2021, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company's reserves available for distribution to the Company’s
shareholders were approximately HK$84 million (2020: approximately
HK$141 million).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy. The dividend payout ratio
shall be determined or recommended, as appropriate, by the Board
at its absolute discretion after taking into account of the operating
results, cash flow, financial condition and capital requirements of the
Group, and subject to:

e the Company's articles of association;

e the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands; and

e any other applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting
shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with
a sustainable dividend policy. The Company’s dividend policy aims
to allow our shareholders to participate in the Company’s profit and
for the Company to retain adequate reserves for the Group's future
growth.

The payment and the amount of dividends (if any) will depend on the
Group's result of operations, cash flows, financial position, working
capital requirements, future expansion plans, general economic
conditions, future prospects, statutory and regulatory restrictions on
the payment of dividends by the Group, and other factors that the
Company may consider relevant. The Company does not have any
predetermined dividend distribution proportion or distribution ratio. Any
future declarations of dividends may or may not reflect the Company’s
historical declarations of dividends and will be at the discretion of the
Directors taking into account the aforesaid factors.
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Any payment of dividend by the Company is also subject to the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the constitutional
documents, which indicate that dividends may be declared and paid
out of the profits, realised or unrealised, or from any reserves set aside
from profits. With the sanction of an ordinary resolution, dividends
may also be declared and paid out of the share premium account or
any other fund or account which can be authorised for this purpose in
accordance with the relevant law.

There can be no assurance that dividends of any amount will be
declared or distributed in any year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group's five largest customers, in
terms of the realized revenue from customers, accounted for 42% of
the total sales for the year. The Group is a provider of financial services.
In the opinion of the directors, it is therefore of no value to disclose
details of the Group's suppliers.

At no time during the year have the Directors, or any of their
associates, or any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued Shares) had any
interest in these major customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

For the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the Group's retirement benefits scheme for the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out in Note 2.17(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this
report, the Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yuan Feng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wu Fei (resigned on 5 July 2021)
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco (appointed on 5 July 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Jiong (Chairman)
Mr. Xu Jiangiang
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy (resigned on 9 March 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wu Jianfeng
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia

In accordance with article 84 of the Company'’s articles of association,
one-third of the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but are
eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company. Any new Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next
following general meeting and annual general meeting of the Company
respectively, and shall then be eligible for re-election pursuant to article
83(3) of the Company's articles of association.

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association, each of Mr.
Li Jiong, Mr. Xu Jiangiang, Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco and Mr. Wu
Jianfeng shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. All of the above four Directors, being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election as executive Director/non-executive
Director/independent non-executive Director (as the case may be) at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Further, each of the independent non-executive Directors has
confirmed his/her independence of the Company and the Company
considers each of them to be independent in accordance with the
guidelines of assessing independence as set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors have entered into any service contract with any
member of the Group which is not determinable by the Group within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the sections of “Related Party Transactions”
and “Continuing Connected Transactions” and Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which
any of the Company'’s subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party,
and in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time
during the year or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the sections of “Interests and Short Positions
of Directors and Chief Executive in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and “Share Option Scheme” below, at no time during the
year or at the end of the year has been/was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company's Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of Shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, subject to the
applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified
and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which
they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of
their duty in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been
in force throughout the reporting period. The Company has arranged
appropriate directors’” and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the
directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ COMPETING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors and their respective
associates (as defined under the Listing Rules) had any business or
interest in a business which competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the Company’s share option scheme as disclosed below,
no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing Shares or that require the Company to enter into any
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end
of the year.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 3

June 2013. A summary of the Scheme is as follows:

(a)

(b)

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is for the Group to attract, retain
and motivate talented Participants (as defined below) to strive for
future developments and expansion of the Group.

Participants of the Scheme

Under the Scheme, the Board may, at its discretion, invite the
following persons as participants (the “Participants”) of the

Scheme:

() any executive or non-executive Director including any
independent non-executive Director or any employee
(whether full-time or part-time) of any member of the Group;

(i) any trustee of a trust (whether family, discretionary or
otherwise) whose beneficiaries or objects include any
employee or business associate of the Group;

(i) any consultant (in the areas of legal, technical, financial or
corporate management) and other adviser to any member
of the Group;

(iv) any supplier of goods and/or services to the Group; or

(v) any other person whom the Board considers, in its sole
discretion, has contributed to the Group.

In determining the basis of eligibility of each Participant, the

Board would take into account such factors as the Board may at
its discretion consider appropriate.
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(c)

(d)

Basis for determining the exercise price and acceptance of
offer

The exercise price of an option granted to subscribe for Shares
under the Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board at its
sole discretion and notified to the Participant and shall be no less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date on
which an option is granted; (ii) the average closing prices of the
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
for the five trading days immediately preceding the date on which
an option is granted; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share.

Offer of an option shall be deemed to have been accepted by the
grantee when the duplicate of the relevant offer letter comprising
acceptance of the option duly signed by the grantee together
with a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 (or such
other nominal sum in any currency as the Board may determine)
by way of consideration for the grant.

Maximum numbers available for issue

The total number of the Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Scheme shall not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company'’s issued share capital
as at the adoption date (the “General Scheme Limit"”) unless
further shareholders’ approval is obtained in general meeting,
provided that options lapsed in accordance with the terms of the
Scheme will not be counted for the purpose of calculating the
General Scheme Limit.

Notwithstanding the foregoing the total number of the Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and other
schemes involving the issue or grant of options or similar rights
over the Shares or other securities by the Company must not, in
aggregate, exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

(c)

(d)
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(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

Maximum entitlement of each Participant

For each Participant, the total number of Shares issued and to
be issued upon exercise of all options granted and further to
be granted in any 12-month period (including both exercised
and outstanding options) and in the 12-month period up to and
including the acceptance date (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding options) shall not in isolation or aggregate exceed
1% of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant, and any
grant of option which would result in such limit being exceeded
shall be approved by the Company in general meeting with such
Participant and any associate thereof abstaining from voting.

Time of exercise of the option

An option may be exercised in whole or in part in accordance
with the terms of the Scheme at any time during the period
commencing on the first business day from the date of grant
of option and expiring at the close of business on a date to be
determined and notified by the Directors which shall not be more
than 10 years from the date of grant of option.

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated at the time
of granting the option, there is no minimum period for which an
option must be held before it can be exercised.

Remaining life of the Scheme

The Directors shall be entitled at any time within 10 years
commencing on 3 July 2013 to offer the grant of an option to any
qualifying participants.

Movements of the options granted under the Scheme

On 10 January 2014, the Company granted options to 68
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 14,920,000 options
were granted to the then six Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 33,040,000 options had been exercised and
6,960,000 options were forfeited or lapsed during the year 2014
to 2015.
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On 19 August 2015, the Company granted options to 95
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 12,200,000 options
were granted to the then six Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 200,000 options had been exercised and
39,800,000 options was lapsed during the year 2015 to 2019.

On 29 December 2016, the Company granted options to 95
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 11,750,000 options
were granted to the then six Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 50,000 options had been exercised and
39,950,000 options were lapsed during the year 2017 to 2020.

On 22 March 2018, the Company granted options to 82
individuals to subscribe for an aggregate of 40,000,000 Shares.
Among the 40,000,000 options granted, 12,200,000 options
were granted to the then five Directors. Among the 40,000,000
options granted, 27,200,000 options were lapsed during the
year 2018 to 2020 and there are 12,800,000 options still valid for
exercise.

Details of the movements of the options granted under the
Scheme are set out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Save as disclosed, as at 31 December 2021, none of the
Directors, chief executive, deputy chief executive, substantial
shareholders of the Company or their respective associates (as
defined under the Listing Rules) had any right to subscribe for the
Company’ shares under the Scheme.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors, including the Company’s chief executives, in the Shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, the
“SFO")), as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
contained in Appendix 10 to the Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Interests in the Company’s shares/underlying shares:

Number of shares/

EERESITHRASRKRM - BRARGKRE
% J\E

RZ2_—F+_"-_B=+—H &% (XK
ABZERSITHRAR) RAERE N EEKE
(EERBEBEOEST1EBS RAEHRA
(TBHREBEFRM) BEXVE) Z K17 ~ BRI
PRESHAER ZEL BN AR EBREE
REIERPIEI52FFAEFHNEL M HRE
EBBMEXSMARAR (MM EHF LD
RAN(TEMRA) B0 E EHETAES
ETEHFXH 2RETR (MRESFR) ASTT
MEARB Rz ST

RARAFI R, AR 2 s

Approximate

underlying shares held % of the
Frsi s /MR & E number of
Name of director Capacity Shares Options Total issued shares
EEETRIR
ERt4 &1 Rz in fEhetE By HEMHNEIL
(note)
(1)
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Beneficial owner - 1,000,000 1,000,000 0.05%
Stephen Gregory McCoy%c4E EmEAA
note: Bt -

As disclosed in the Company’'s announcement dated 22 March 2018, Mr.
Stephen Gregory McCoy, a non-executive Director resigned on 9 March 2021,
was granted the Company’s share options which entitled him to subscribe for
1,000,000 Shares with the exercise price of HK$0.495 and lapsed on 21 March
2021.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor the Company’s
chief executive had any interests or short positions in the Shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
(i) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
recorded in the register as referred to therein; or (ii) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF BEBESRIPERMETHREZREERR
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER THE SFO KB

BEERERFARSTHRAEMA KR _F
T—F+ZRA=+—H BARBEZEFERE
REERBITHRAEBZEmREKAINI  LUTFAL
RAERBHRMOIERERN T HEA BREES
REHEHEOIEXVEFE2R3DE 2 R XA AR
ARBHCHNARARDREEST RMERHE
3BIR BB EFHELMAMAEMBS AN EERR

As at 31 December 2021, so far as the Directors and the Company's
chief executive are aware, other than the interests and short positions
of the Directors and the Company’s chief executive as disclosed, the
following persons had interests or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to

the Company and the Stock Exchange:

) 5 B 22 P B9 7

KA

Number of shares/ Approximate
underlying shares held % of the
Frisikin /+ERARZ 1A $1 B number of
Derivative issued shares
Name Capacity Shares interests Total HEETRG
2y g% eabi TS By HESMNESL
CITIC Securities Overseas Beneficial owner 1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
Investment Company Limited
RENHEIMBEERRAE BREEA
CITIC Securities Company Limited Interests of controlled 1,200,310,001 - 1,200,310,001 59.03%
corporation
R HFROERAT RERZEER
KVB Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
KVB Holdings Limited BREAA
Li Zhi Da Interests of controlled 300,000,000 - 300,000,000 14.75%
corporation
FEE RERZEER
Calypso International Investment Beneficial owner 106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
Co., Limited
Calypso International Investment EEEBA
Co., Limited
Hainan Province Cihang Foundation  Interests of controlled 106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
corporation
BHEEMARESS RERZEER
Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Interests of controlled 106,355,000 - 106,355,000 5.23%
Educational Exchange Foundation corporation
Limited
EMAAR BRI REES RERZEER

BRRE
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notes:

° CITIC Securities Overseas Investment Company Limited (“CS Overseas”)
beneficially owns 1,200,310,001 Shares. CS Overseas is wholly and
beneficially owned by CITIC Securities Company Limited (“CITIC
Securities”). By virtue of the SFO, CITIC Securities was deemed to be
interested in those Shares held by CS Overseas.

o KVB Holdings Limited (“KHL" formely known as “KVB Kunlun Holdings
Limited”) beneficially owns 300,000,000 Shares. KHL is held 75% of
shares by Mr. Li Zhi Da (“Mr. Li"). By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Li was deemed
to be interested in those Shares held by KHL.

o Calypso International Investment Co., Limited was a wholly owned
subsidiary of @Mz #% % ( £/8) MR 22 7], which was in turn wholly
owned by HNA Group Co., Ltd.. HNA Group Co., Ltd. was held as to
70% by Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co., Ltd.. Hainan Traffic
Administration Holding Co., Ltd. was in turn held as to 50% by Sheng
Tang Development (Yangpu) Co., Ltd.. Sheng Tang Development (Yangpu)
Co., Ltd. was held as to 65% by Hainan Province Cihang Foundation and
35% by Tang Dynasty Development Co. Ltd. which was in turn 98% held
by Pan-American Aviation Holding Company, which was wholly owned
by Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation
Limited. Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange
Foundation Limited and Hainan Province Cihang Foundation were
deemed under the SFO to be interested in entire 106,355,000 ordinary
shares of the Company held by Calypso International Investment Co.,
Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, there was no
other person (other than the Directors and the Company’s chief
executive) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified

to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which any member of the Group was a party and in which
a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 December 2021.
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Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions”, no contract of significance (including provision of
services) between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and a
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries subsisted during the
year ended 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Significant related party transactions entered into by the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2021 are disclosed in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements. Certain of these transactions also
constitute continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules,
as identified below.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Cash Dealing Services

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 28
December 2018, the Company and KVB Kunlun Global Capital
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of KVB Kunlun Holdings Limited
("KVB Holdings”, a substantial shareholder of the Company)
entered into a renewed cash dealing agreement (the “Renewed
Cash Dealing Agreement”) on 28 December 2018 for a term from 1
January 2019 to 31 December 2021 subject to early termination by
either party by giving the other party at least one month’s written
notice of termination, under which the Company, together with
its subsidiaries, would provide cash dealing services including the
provision of exchange of currencies at a rate determined at the time
of the transaction to KVB Holdings and its associate other than the
Group. The annual caps for transactions contemplated under the
Renewed Cash Dealing Agreement for each of the three years ended
31 December 2021 in respect of revenue (in terms of net of realised
gains, realised losses, unrealised gains and unrealised losses) are HK$10
million.
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Sharing of Office premises

In order to continue our operations overseas, as announced by the
Company on 9 March 2020, CLSA Premium Pty Limited (“CLSAP AU"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a
service level agreement (the “Australian Service Level Agreement”)
with CLSA Australia Services Pty Ltd (“CLSA Australia Pty”), a company
incorporated in Australia and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CITIC
Securities (a controlling shareholder of the Company) for a term of
three years from 14 February 2020 to 13 February 2023. Under the
Australian Service Level Agreement, CLSA Australia Pty shall provide
or procure the provision of (i) sharing of office space and common
use of certain facilities at Level 35, Grosvenor Place, 225 George
Street, Sydney NSW 2000; and (ii) administrative services including
utilities, kitchen consumables and receptionist services to CLSAP AU.
The annual cap of the transactions contemplated under the Australian
Service Level Agreement for each of the three years ended/ending
31 December 2020, 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and the
period ending 13 February 2023 is AUD105,573.77 (approximately
HK$633,443), AUD120,000 (approximately HK$720,000),
AUD120,000 (approximately HK$720,000) and AUD14,465.75
(approximately HK$86,795) respectively.

As announced by the Company on 23 March 2020, on 23 March
2020, CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited (“CLSAP HK"),
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, being the
tenant under the tenancy agreement in relation to our Hong Kong
office dated 28 October 2018 (the
Agreement”), entered into a service level agreement (the “Hong Kong
Service Level Agreement”) with CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK) Limited
("CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK)") and CITIC Securities Futures (HK)
Limited (“CITIC Securities Futures (HK)"), both being wholly-owned
subsidiaries of CITIC Securities for a term from 26 March 2020 to 30
September 2021. Under the Hong Kong Service Level Agreement,
CLSAP HK shall provide or procure the provision of (i) sharing of office
space and common use of certain facilities at Nos.7501 & 7507B-
7508, Level 75, International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West,
Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Office”); and (ii) administrative
services including utilities, kitchen consumables and receptionist
services. The annual cap of the transactions contemplated under the

“Hong Kong Office Tenancy

Hong Kong Service Level Agreement for each of the two years ending
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2021 is HK$2,558,000 and
HK$2,700,000 respectively.
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As the provision of the services under the Hong Kong Service
Level Agreement is subject to the permission of the landlord (the
“Landlord”), an independent third party, on 20 March 2020, the
Company, CLSAP HK, Yorkastle Capital Limited, an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company (”Yorkastle”), CITIC Securities
CITIC Securities Futures (HK) and the Landlord
entered into a supplemental deed of guarantee and indemnity
(the “Supplemental Deed”). Under the Supplemental Deed, the
Company, CLSAP HK, Yorkastle, CITIC Securities Brokerage (HK) and
CITIC Securities Futures (HK) (i) jointly and severally agree, confirm

Brokerage (HK),

and undertake with the Landlord that they shall jointly and severally
observe and perform all the terms and conditions of the Hong Kong
Office Tenancy Agreement, the guarantee and indemnity entered into
by the Landlord, CLSAP HK, Yorkastle and the Company on 2 October
2018 (the “2018 Guarantee and Indemnity”) and the Supplemental
Deed; and (ii) unconditionally and irrevocably warrant and guarantee
the payment of all rent and other payments payable under the
Hong Kong Office Tenancy Agreement; and (iii) jointly and severally
undertake to fully indemnify the Landlord against any loss, damages,
demands, suits, actions, proceedings, costs and expenses arising out of
or directly or indirectly connected with the breach of the Hong Kong
Office Tenancy Agreement or the 2018 Guarantee and Indemnity or
the Supplemental Deed or the use or occupation of the Hong Kong
Office or the breach of laws or regulations or commission of any
offence of investigation by the relevant authorities.

The Hong Kong Office Tenancy Agreement had been expired after
September 2021, therefore, the Hong Kong Service Level Agreement
together with the Supplemental Deed both had also been expired after
September 2021.

Information Technology Services
As disclosed under the section headed
Liabilities”
Company is still in litigation with Banclogix System Co., Limited

“Litigation and Contingent
(Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements), the

("Banclogix”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of KVB Holdings Limited,
regarding a previous information technology services agreement dated
28 December 2018 (the “Previous IT Services Agreement”).
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Pursuant to the Previous IT Services Agreement, Banclogix provided
software development and maintenance services, information
technology infrastructure project management services and
information technology infrastructure maintenance services to the

Group.

However, as disclosed in the announcement dated 6 August 2019
and the 2019 Annual Report of the Company, Banclogix has, among
others, denied access requested by the Company to the relevant
data. The Group had obtained an injunction order which prohibited
Banclogix from, among others, (i) deleting or disposing any data
owned by the Group (the “Group’s Data”) and (ii) damaging, deleting,
modifying, destroying or disposing of any back-up tapes or other
back-up storage media which contained the Group’s Data, which was
subsequently substituted by Banclogix's undertakings to the Court to
the same effect. The continuation, variation or discharge of the said
injunction order and/or undertakings are now pending judgment from
the Court. The Company’s three licensed subsidiaries in Australia, New
Zealand and Hong Kong have joined in November 2020 as plaintiffs
against Banclogix for, among others, repudiatory breaches of the
Previous IT Services Agreement by Banclogix.

As announced by the Company on 23 March 2020, the Company
issued a letter of termination of the Previous IT Services Agreement
to Banclogix on 19 March 2020. On 6 May 2020, the Company
received a writ of summons issued from the High Court for an action
commenced by Banclogix against the Company the details of which
are set out in the section headed “Litigation and Contingent Liabilities”.
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New Information Technology Service Agreement

In view of such ongoing litigation with Banclogix, it is necessary for
the Company to engage a new service provider to provide information
technology services to the Group. As announced by the Company
on 9 March 2020, on 9 March 2020, the Company entered into an
information technology services agreement (the “New Information
Technology Services Agreement”) with CLSA Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CITIC Securities, for a term of three years from 17 March
2020 to 16 March 2023 whereby CLSA Limited agreed to provide
(i) technology infrastructure design, implementation, monitoring,
maintenance and remote support services; (i) software development,
implementation, monitoring, maintenance and remote support
services; (iii) front office sales trading, dealing, execution system; (iv)
website services; (v) market data databases and distribution platforms
for all systems; (vi) system access account administration services and
reporting, security monitoring, and security consulting services; and
(vii) information technology service management services to the Group.

The Company shall pay (i) a fixed annual fees at US$115,000; (ii) a
variable monthly fee based on actual usage of the relevant services,
charged at US$3,635 per user per annum; and (i) in respect of
project management service, a fee charged by cost actually incurred
as listed in the Statement of Work as agreed by the relevant Group
company and CLSA Limited prior to the start of the project. Unless
otherwise specified in the Statement of Work, an amount will be
charged at HK$5,500 per man day. The annual cap of the transactions
contemplated under the New Information Technology Services
Agreement for each of the three years ended/ending 31 December
2020, 31 December 2021, 31 December 2022 and the period ending
16 March 2023 is HK$2,422,000, HK$3,504,000, HK$4,078,000 and
HK$862,000 respectively.

All independent non-executive Directors have reviewed and confirmed
that the above continuing connected transactions have been entered
into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  either on normal commercial terms or, if there are not sufficient
comparable transactions to judge whether they are on normal
commercial terms, on terms no less favourable to the Group
than terms available to or from (as appropriate) independent third
parties; and
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(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
Company'’s shareholders as a whole.

The Directors also confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company's auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued

by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the auditor must
provide a letter to the Board confirming whether anything has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that the continuing
connected transactions:

(1) have not been approved by the Board,;

(2) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group if the transactions involve the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

(3) were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

(4) have exceeded the cap.

The auditor has issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in this section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” above. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided
by the Company to the Stock Exchange.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

Save and except for the legal actions as disclosed during the reporting
period, the Group did not have any material litigation or arbitration.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS DURING
THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group did not have any material acquisitions, disposals or asset
reorganizations during the reporting period.

DISCLOSURE OF DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
PURSUANT TO RULE 13.51B (1) OF THE LISTING RULES

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 December
2020, Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy tendered his resignation as a non-
executive Director with effect from 9 March 2021.

On 12 April 2021, Mr. Yuan Feng has been appointed as a director of
CITIC Securities Overseas Investment Company Limited, a controlling
shareholder of the Company.

The director service agreement entered into between Mr. Li Jiong
and the Company has been renewed on 21 May 2021 with a term
of service for three years and subject to rotational retirements under
the Company'’s articles of association. Mr. Li is entitled to receive a
remuneration of HK$120,000 for each year.

The director service agreement entered into between Mr. Xu Jiangiang
and the Company has been renewed on 21 May 2021 with a term
of service for three years and subject to rotational retirements under
the Company's articles of association. Mr. Xu is entitled to receive a
remuneration of HK$120,000 for each year.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2021,
Mr. Wu Fei tendered his resignation as an executive Director and the
general manager of the Group with effect from 5 July 2021 and Mr.
Chung Cheuk Fan Marco has been appointed as the executive Director
and the Head of Legal and Compliance with effect from 5 July 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s total
issued share capital as required under the Listing Rules throughout the
year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the date of this report.
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AUDITOR

The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 has been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire and
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment as auditor at the
Company's forthcoming annual general meeting.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Company established an audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012 with written terms of reference
in compliance with the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee currently comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia,
Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield. Ms. Hu
Zhaoxia is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee meets at least twice a year to review (i) the
annual and interim results and the accompanying auditor’s reports,
(i) the accounting policies and practices adopted by the Company,
and (iii) the financial reporting matters, risk management and internal
control systems of the Company.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the Group's audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021, including
the qualified opinion in the independent auditor’s report thereon, and

had submitted its views to the Board.

On behalf of the Board

Yuan Feng
Executive Director and Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 14 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the "Group”) is committed to high standards of corporate governance,
as it believes that an effective corporate governance framework
is fundamental to promoting and safeguarding interests of its
shareholders and other stakeholders and enhancing shareholder
value. It has continued and will continue to identify and adopt the best

corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODES

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code"”) contained in Appendix 14
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in a
whole year of 2021. The Board will continue to review and monitor the
Company's corporate governance practices to ensure compliance with
the Code and the application of the principles as mentioned in Code.
The Company had adopted certain policies to maintain higher level of
compliance with the Codes throughout the year 2021 and to report on
whether any non-compliance with the Codes, if any, was fully disclosed
and explained in this report. The Company’s corporate governance
system has been reviewed by the corporate governance committee
annually. The Board believes that the commitment of high-standard
corporate governance will provide long-term value and maximised
returns to the Company'’s shareholders (the “Shareholder(s)”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The principal objective of the Company is to enhance long-term total
return for the Shareholders.

The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies and
policies, including an oversight of the management. The Company’s
management is responsible for the Company’s daily operations under
the leadership of the Deputy Chief Executive Officer.
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Up to the date of this report, the Board is comprised of seven
members comprising two executive Directors (Mr. Yuan Feng as
Deputy Chief Executive Officer and Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco),
two non-executive Directors (Mr. Li Jiong as the Chairman of the
Board and Mr. Xu Jiangiang) and three independent non-executive
Directors (Mr. Wu Jianfeng, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield and
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia). Throughout the year, the Company has fulfilled
the requirement of rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules that (i)
at least three independent non-executive directors; (i) at least one
of the independent non-executive directors must have appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise; and (iii) the number of independent non-
executive Directors on the Board meets the one-third requirement.

Each executive Director has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a specific term, and his term of office is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association and the Listing Rules. For all non-
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors, the
term of them has been fixed for 3 years and they are also subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the
Company's articles of association and the Listing Rules.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or material/
relevant relationships) among members of the Board.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section of
“Board’s Profile” in this annual report and on the Company’s website.
A list setting out the names of the Directors and their roles and
functions is posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

Each Director has disclosed to the Company, if any, in a timely
manner of any change, the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments. All
such changes, if any, during the year and up to the date of this report
have been disclosed in the section of “Directors’ Report” in this annual
report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

In determining the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors, the Board has followed the requirements as set out in the
Listing Rules. The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Based on such confirmation,
the Company is of the view that all the independent non-executive
Directors have met the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Since 27 June 2019, Mr. Li Jiong has
been appointed as the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Yuan Feng has
been appointed as the Deputy Chief Executive Officer. Following the
resignation of Mr. Liu Stefan as the Company’s chief executive officer,
Mr. Yuan Feng has assumed the position and performed the duty of
the chief executive officer.

The Board will keep reviewing the current structure of the Board from
time to time. The Board is also identifying a candidate with suitable
knowledge, skills and experience, and will make appointment to fill the
vacancy of chief executive officer as and when appropriate.

RE-ELECTION OF RETIRING DIRECTORS

Pursuant to article 84 of the Company’s articles of association, at
each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least
once every three years. All the retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election.

Pursuant to article 83(3) of the Company's articles of association, any
Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of Members after his appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting.

In accordance with above mentioned, Mr. Li Jiong, Mr. Xu Jiangiang,
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco and Mr. Wu Jianfeng shall retire from
office at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of them, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election as executive Director/non-
executive Director/independent non-executive Director (as the case
may be).
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ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly. During the year 2021, four regular Board
meetings were held in which two of the regular Board meetings were
for the approval of the Company'’s interim and annual results. Notices
for regular Board meetings were given to all Directors at least 14 days
prior to the meetings. Between scheduled meetings, the Company’s
senior management, from time to time, meets with Directors to
discuss the Group’s businesses. In addition, Directors have full access
to information on the Group and independent professional advice
whenever deemed necessary by the Directors.

The attendance of each of the Directors at the general meetings
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EHEREEMERRENFHARFEREE-
EFEEFERESENERETARLS T
HO2BREFEH - EEREGHZMB &2
ANEREERErNHNEEHESREAER

WEEBER - EFTREARIBFTERF
BEEREHNKBINEXER-

BEFN T —FHEARNRREAE (8

(included annual general meeting), Board meetings and meetings of IERFEBEARE) EXETTEREZEZEG
the audit committee, remuneration committee, nomination committee ¥ MMZEE  IRLZESG AP XELRTER T
and corporate governance committee held during the year 2021 is set  ZBIHE B RHIN T :
out below:
Number of meetings attended/held
FritfE /8T8 EHE
Corporate
General Audit Remuneration Nomination  governance
Directors meetings Board  committee = committee = committee = committee
e
B2 kExE 53¢ BHERE FMEEE  ReZag %ZRg
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. YUAN Feng (Deputy Chief Executive Officer) — RIEHEE (BT HAEZ) 17 6/6 1/
Mr. WU Fei R E n 46
Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco "¢ EIRL L 0N 26
Non-executive Directors FaES
M. LI Jiong (Chairman) TEEE (28 17 6/6 "
Mr. XU Jiangiang FRRLE 17 6/6 1
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCOY e Stephen Gregory McCOY/G 47 on 1/6
Independent non-executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. WU Jianfeng g lfe S N 6/6 W) n
Mr. Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD7 4 " 4/6 22 " 17N 17N
Ms. HU Zhaoxia HEERL 1" 6/6 212 1 1"
note: Bat -

o As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 December 2020,
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy tendered his resignation as a non-executive
Director with effect from 9 March 2021.

o As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 5 July 2021, Mr.
Wu Fei tendered his resignation as an executive Director and the general
manager of the Group with effect from 5 July 2021 and Mr. Chung
Cheuk Fan Marco has been appointed as the executive Director and the
Head of Legal and Compliance with effect from 5 July 2021.
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Directors and officers are indemnified under a directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance against any liability incurred by them in
the discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors and
officers of the Company.

SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS AND
RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as the code of conduct regarding
transactions in securities of the Company by the Directors and the
relevant employees of the Company (including directors or employees
of subsidiaries of the Company) who are likely to possess inside
information of the Company and/or its securities.

Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors confirmed that they
had complied with the Model Code in their securities transactions
throughout the year 2021. Besides, no incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code by the employees was noted by the Company.

The Company has also established written guidelines no less exacting
than the Model Code for employees in respect of their dealing in
the Company’s shares and established written guidelines on inside
dealings in relation to the Company and the securities transaction of
the Company with reference to Division 4 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap. 571).

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills so as to ensure their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should
be responsible for arranging and funding suitable training, placing an
appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the Director.
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During the year, all the Directors were provided with commentary
on the Group’s business, operations, and financial matters as well
as regular updates on applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
The Company had also provided the Directors with the materials and
information update including the Directors’ obligations as required
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the Listing Rules. In
addition, individual Directors have also participated in other courses
relating to the roles, functions and duties of a listed company director
or further enhancement of their professional development by way
of attending training courses or via online aids or reading relevant
materials. All the Directors had provided their training records to the
Company for the year under review.

FRN FIEESFENRIMNEAEREHT EER
PEBEEEURBRZEREERENEREST
FREZ R e A ABTRERRHEN RIEF]
NE > BEEFRAERG R EHRAARE
MEFEHE - BEHEFTFAEZMEMA
FMLELTAREFAG BEKRBENRE =
BB MIBIIRE  FEE S NEERRER
NE—FNEESXS R -2REFHEELX
AEARERENCBEFENEIILCE-

Directors Type of trainings
55 1EEIEER
Executive Directors BiTES

Mr. YUAN Feng mRIEEE A
Mr. CHUNG Cheuk Fan Marco FEi=Ryjb i A/B
Non-executive Directors ERITES

Mr. LI Jiong FEg&E A
Mr. XU lJiangiang SFiEsR st A
Independent non-executive Directors BIUERITES

Mr. WU Jianfeng Ha#gkd A
Mr. Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELD Christopher Wesley SATTERFIELDZt 4= A/B
Ms. HU Zhaoxia BT A

A: attending internal briefing sessions/reading materials in relation to
corporate governance and regulatory updates.

B:  attending seminars/courses/conference to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the
"Remuneration Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to evaluate
the performance and determine the remuneration packages of the
Directors and the senior management of the Group, and evaluate the
performance and make recommendations on any other employee
benefit arrangement.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for (i) make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for all Directors” and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy; (i) review and approve the management’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate
goals and objectives; (iii) make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, which should include benefits in kind, pension rights
and compensation payments, and any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office(s) or appointment(s), and to make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive
Directors; (iv) consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Company and any of its subsidiaries; (v) review and
approve compensation payable to executive Directors and senior
management for any loss or termination of office(s) or appointment(s)
to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise
fair and not excessive; (vi) review and approve compensation
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms
and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; (vii) ensure that no
Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding his/her
own remuneration; and (viii) make recommendations to the Board as it
deems appropriate on any area within its scope of duties where action
or improvement is needed.

The Remuneration Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely, Mr. Yuan Feng, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr. Christopher Wesley
Satterfield. Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield is the chairman of
the Remuneration Committee. Majority of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are independent non-executive Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary
duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure,
size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and make
recommendations to the Board regarding nomination of suitable
candidate to fill vacancies in the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Li Jiong (the Chairman of the Board), and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield
and Ms. Hu Zhaoxia. Mr. Li Jiong is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee. Majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee considered and reviewed the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors, the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board, and the
attendance records of the Board meetings, committees meetings
and general meetings for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
Nomination Committee recommended the Board to approve the
proposed sequence for re-election of retiring Directors in annual
general meeting to be held in 2022. The Nomination Committee
considers that the existing policy for nomination, selection and
recommendation for directorship are suitable. The Nomination
Committee also considered and make recommendations to the Board
on the proposed appointment of Directors during the year ended
31 December 2021.
appointment to the Board during the year.

Save as disclosed, there were no other new

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity in
the boardroom. The Board has therefore adopted a board diversity
policy which stated that the Board sees diversity as a wide concept
and believes that a diversity of perspectives can be achieved through
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited to skills,
regional and industry experience, background, race, gender and other
qualities. In informing its perspective on diversity, the Company will
also take into account factors based on its own business model and
specific needs from time to time.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the appropriate

balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives that are

required to support the execution of its business strategy and in order

for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the following

criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for directorships:

Character and integrity;

Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, and the ability to
provide insights and practical wisdom based on those attributes;

Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

For independent non-executive Directors to be appointed in
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

Ability to develop a good working relationship with other Board
members and contribute to the Board's working relationship with
senior management of the Company;

Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted by
the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;

and

Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences in
the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race, gender
and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be taken into
account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. All
Board appointments will be based on merit while taking into account
diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee will report annually, in the Corporate Governance Report,
on the Board’'s composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of this policy.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

“Audit
Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference in

The Company established an audit committee (the

compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary duties
of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and risk management and internal control systems
of the Company, nominate and monitor external auditor and provide
advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Ms. Hu Zhaoxia, Mr. Wu Jianfeng and Mr.
Christopher Wesley Satterfield. Ms. Hu Zhaoxia is the chairman of the
Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has met the external auditor of the Group to
review the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, risk management and internal control systems
and financial reporting matters including the review of this annual
report and financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee
reviewed with the management and the auditor of the Company
their audit findings, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Company, legal and regulatory compliance, and financial
reporting matters. The Audit Committee also considered and
made recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of the
Company's auditor.

The audited consolidated results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Company established a corporate governance committee (the
"CG Committee”) on 18 December 2012. Written terms of reference
in compliance with the Code has been adopted. The primary duties of
the CG Committee are to develop and review the Company's policies
and practices on corporate governance and make recommendations to
the Board.

The CG Committee currently consists of one non-executive Director,
namely, Mr. Xu Jiangiang, and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield and Ms. Hu
Zhaoxia. Mr. Xu liangiang is the chairman of the CG Committee.
Majority of the members of CG Committee are independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year 2021, the CG Committee considered and reviewed the
progress on the implementation of the Group's corporate governance
framework. The CG Committee also reviewed the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company. Besides, the CG Committee
considered and reviewed the environmental, social and governance
reporting proposal. The CG Committee considers that the existing
policies and practices of corporate governance of the Company are
suitable.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors ensure the Group's financial statements are prepared in
accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards.

The Directors’ responsibilities in the preparation of the financial
statements and the auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the section
of "Independent Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's risk management
and internal control systems to safeguard the Company's assets and
Shareholders’ interests, and, with the Audit Committee, for reviewing
areas of risk and uncertainty, the operation and effectiveness of the
Group’s systems of internal control and the procedures by which these
are monitored. In order to reduce the costs, the Board has delegated
the Group’s compliance department to conduct the enterprise risk
assessment and internal control assessment over certain business
processes of the Group during the year to ensure and maintain sound
internal control functions by monitoring such internal control systems
and procedures so as to ensure that they can provide reasonable
assurance against misstatement or loss and to manage risks of failure
in the Group's operational systems.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed all material
internal control, including financial, operational and compliance
control. Together with the Audit Committee, the Board received and
considered the information from the management, external auditor
and the in-house compliance specialist in respect of the effectiveness
of the Group’s certain internal control systems and have considered
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function. The
Board is satisfied that the financial, operational, compliance controls,
internal audit, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group had been in operation and considered that the Company’s risk
management and internal control system are effective and adequate.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage but not eliminate business risk, to help safeguard the Group’s
assets against fraud and other irregularities, and to give reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material financial misstatement or loss.
In addition, it should provide a basis for the maintenance of proper and
fair accounting records and assist in the compliance with relevant rules
and regulations.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Group's audit works for the year ended 31 December 2021
were performed by BDO Limited and Zhuhai Dehong Certified Public
Accountants Co., Ltd., which handled the audit works for the PRC
subsidiary.

The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit and non-
audit services provided by the abovementioned auditors is set out in

the following:

Nature of work
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Amount (HK$)

ITE4E H%8 (BT)
Audit services BEIZARTE 2,840,000
Non-audit services JEBIZAR TS 278,000
COMPANY SECRETARY rREE

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company FRFEEZFH A EATWMEELAERERMR

Secretary. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman on board
governance matters, and is responsible for ensuring that Board
procedures are followed and for facilitating communications among
Directors as well as with Shareholders and management.

Mr. Shek Wing Wa holds a bachelor degree in business administration
and a master degree in corporate governance and is an associate
member of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The
Chartered Governance Institute since 2010. He has been engaged
in company secretarial work for more than 16 years and has solid
experience in company secretarial field gained from both listed
companies and professional firms in Hong Kong.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Pursuant to article 58 of the Company’s articles of association, any
one or more Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital
carrying the right of voting at the Company’s general meetings shall
at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
company secretary, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2) months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of
such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result
of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by
the Company.

In the event that any Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the Company’s paid up capital
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company would
like to call for an extraordinary general meeting, please make a written
requisition to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong from
time to time, making attention to “The Board of Directors and the
Company Secretary”.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to put forward
proposals at the general meetings under the Company’s articles
of association. If Shareholders wish to do so, they may request to
convene an extraordinary general meeting as stipulated above and
specify the proposals in such written requisition.

For any enquiries, Shareholders are welcome to contact the Company
by post to the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong, by phone
at (852) 2600 7670 or by fax at (852) 3014 6457.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
Communications with Shareholders and investors

The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with
the Shareholders. A shareholders’ communication policy setting
out the principles of the Company in relation to Shareholders’
communications, with the objectives of ensuring a transparent and
timely communication with Shareholders via various means, had been
established and published on the Company’s website. And it will be
reviewed annually after the annual general meeting. The Company’s
annual general meetings and other general meetings are valuable
forums for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders
and to answer questions Shareholders may raise. Another key
element of effective communication with Shareholders and investors
is the prompt and timely dissemination of information in relation to
the Group. The Company has announced its 2020 annual results
and 2021 interim results in a timely manner as required by the Listing
Rules.

Separate resolutions are proposed by the chairman at general meetings
for each substantial issue. The detailed procedures of conducting
a poll are explained to Shareholders at the commencement of the
general meetings, to ensure that Shareholders are familiar with such
procedures.

The Company'’s last annual general meeting (“AGM") was held on
Tuesday, 18 May 2021 at 10:30 a.m. at Suites 7501 & 7508, 75/F,
International Commerce Centre, 1 Austin Road West, Kowloon, Hong
Kong. Notice of the last AGM was sent out on 8 April 2021, i.e. there
were 21 clear business days before the last AGM. All the resolutions
proposed at the last AGM were approved by the Shareholders by poll.
Details of the poll results are available on the Company’s website.

The Chairman of the Board attended the general meeting in the
year 2021 and also invited the chairman of the Audit, Nomination,
Corporate Governance and Remuneration Committees to attend. All
the Directors, attended the general meeting in the year 2021. The
Auditor was also available during the AGM to answer questions from
the Shareholders.
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The next AGM will be probably held at 17/F, One Pacific Place, 88
Queensway, Hong Kong on Friday, 13 May 2022 at 10:30 a.m. (or,
in the event that a black rainstorm warning signal or tropical cyclone
warning signal no. 8 or above is in force in Hong Kong at 9:00 a.m. on
that day, at the same time and place on Friday, 20 May 2022).

The Company's register of members will be closed from Tuesday, 10
May 2022 to Friday, 13 May 2022, both days inclusive, during the
period no transfers of Company’s shares will be registered. In order to
qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Union Registrars Limited, at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King’'s Road, North Point, Hong Kong for
registration by no later than 4:00 p.m. (Hong Kong time) on Monday,
9 May 2022.

The Company’s market capitalisation as at 31 December 2021 was
HK$231,795,060 (issued share capital: 2,033,290,000 Shares at
closing market price: HK$0.114 per Share). The public float was
approximately 26.22% as at 31 December 2021.

Stakeholders of the Company could send emails to
"enquiry@clsapremium.com” for the communication of their views
on various matters related to the Company and the emails would be

replied by specific department of the Company.

All corporate communication materials published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.clsapremium.com) as soon as practicable after their release.
The Company's constitutional documents are also available on both
websites. During the year under review, there is no amendment to the
Company’s articles of association.
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|IBDO

FEE © +852 2218 8288
{5H : +852 2815 2239

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk
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25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
BETHEEPI15R
KRAD251

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Qualified Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CLSA
Premium Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the “Group”) set out on pages 73 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2021, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described
in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the
consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the
consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash
flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Qualified Opinion

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Group's information
technology (“IT") related systems, databases and servers (together the
“Legacy Systems”) were utilised to process transactions and calculate
the leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income, fee and
commission income as well as the related referral expenses. As such,
the occurrence, accuracy and completeness of the transaction data
maintained were highly dependent on the integrity of the Legacy
Systems. However, since August 2019, the Group were only able to
gain restricted access to the data stored in and documentation relating
to the Legacy Systems. From December 2019 the Group utilised new IT
related systems, database and servers to process and store the data for
the relevant business transactions executed since December 2019.

In light of the denial of access to the Group’s Legacy Systems,
the predecessor auditor placed significant reliance on obtaining
confirmations directly from third parties as an alternative audit
procedure that aimed to provide sufficient appropriate audit evidence
about the relevant assertions associated with the Group's leveraged
foreign exchange and other trading transactions. However, the
predecessor auditor were unable to obtain a sufficient level of
confirmation replies. There were no other alternative procedures that
they could perform to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence,
the predecessor auditor disclaimed their opinion on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2019.

The Group's restricted access to the Legacy Systems meant we
were also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence that we
considered necessary to substantiate the existence, accuracy and
completeness of certain financial statement line items disclosed in the
consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive
income for the year ended 31 December 2019 and, accordingly, we
were unable to determine whether adjustments in respect of the
retained earnings as at 1 January 2020 were necessary.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Any adjustments to the Group's clients’ balances, derivative financial
instruments asset and derivative financial instruments liability as at 1
January 2020 found necessary might impact the leveraged foreign
exchange and other trading income of HK$3,832,000 and the
referral expenses and other charges of HK$2,048,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020 reported in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows and the related disclosures included in the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. Our audit
opinion on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2020 was qualified accordingly.

Our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2021 is also modified because of the possible
effects of this matter on the comparability of the related 2021 figures
and the 2020 figures in the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section, we have determined
the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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Leveraged trading system and controls

We identified the controls over the trading system as a key audit
matter because the Group's leveraged foreign exchange and other
trading business and the recognition and calculation of the leveraged
foreign exchange and other trading income are dependent on the
design and operational effectiveness of key Information Technology
("IT") controls over the trading system given the significant amount of
transactions that are automatically processed in the systems.

As disclosed in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the
leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income is a key revenue
stream for the Group, which contributed to over 33% of the Group's
total income.

Our responses:

Our procedures in relation to the Group's leveraged trading system and
controls included:

1. IT General Controls Testing

Assessed IT control environment including examining the
framework of governance over the Group’s IT organisation and
the key IT general controls over the trading system covering
access to system and data, program changes, program
development, and IT operations.

2. IT Application Controls Testing

Assessed key automated control procedures, key system
generated reports from the trading system and calculations within
the automated applications through comparing the source data
to the underlying trade details and performing recalculation on a
sample basis.

Other Information in the Annual Report

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon. In connection with our audit of the consolidated
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. As described in the “Basis for Qualified
Opinion” section above, we were not able to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence to satisfy ourselves about the Group's
clients’ balances, derivative financial instruments asset and derivative
financial instruments liability as at 1 January 2020 and the potential
consequential effects on the leveraged foreign exchange and other
trading income and the referral expenses and other charges for the
year ended 31 December 2020. Such limitation of scope of work
may have a consequential effect on the comparability of the related
2021 figures and 2020 figures included in the other information.
Accordingly, we are unable to conclude whether or not the other
information is materially misstated with respect to this matter.

Directors’ Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

e obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

e conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

e  evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

e  obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
Joi 37 A% BT

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine WHHEZERBEB 2B > ZMAEEHBZALE
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the FAMBEREMEEAETE2F1E AMBER
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are FRABEZFE BRIEZRBRIEZRARF QR
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our BILEE > INBERZBERT > HMBAHE
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure BZEFEA SEBHRACZAREBRFBHEAR
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we HIBILEE M FZMAER RS PINE > T
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report — F{fd & A #% BT R &5 P #fi tE S5 78 o

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

BDO Limited BRIUGRREAMEZMAERAE
Certified Public Accountants HEEEE

Chan Wing Fai B 7k &

Practising Certificate Number P05443 B E RS P05443

Hong Kong, 14 March 2022 EE - "F=HF+MW@AH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ao o 2 T WA 7%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—E " —F+_"_H=+—HILFE

2021 2020
T —fF T TEF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Vo2 FAET TFET
Leveraged foreign exchange and BRI S H AN A Z U A
other trading income 5 2,717 3,832
Cash dealing income IRERZ WA 5 - 785
Fee and commission income & AR AE WA 5 63 91
Reversal of provision for expected BELIFEHE BB G
credit loss 390 490
Other income HAgA 6 5,010 6,663
Total income A 4B %8R 8,180 11,861
Referral expenses and other charges HARE REMER (1,110) (2,048)
Staff costs BT 7 (24,705) (18,611
Depreciation — property, plant and ME—E -WMERRE
equipment 12 (1,914) (3,120)
Depreciation — right-of-use assets WE—EREEE 14 (9,721) (11,723)
Other operating expenses Hi = 8 (28,354) (56,924
Total expenses Bz 48 %8 (65,804) (92,426
Operating loss ES—d-5F = (57,624) (80,565
Finance cost =N (288) (593)
Loss before tax PRiR ARSI (57.912) (81,158
Income tax credit FriSitit e 9 1,370 9,522
Loss for the year FERE (56,542) (71,636
Other comprehensive Hthzm Fs) =
(expense)/income
Item that may be reclassified to OJSEEF P E R HE
profit or loss
Currency translation difference EEEREEE (7,757) 13,680
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEAEMZE %) WE
for the year, net of tax (0FRIRIA) (7,757) 13,680
Total comprehensive expense for the year [ 2 H sz 4258 (64,299) (57,956)
Loss per share for loss attributable FEZA QT REFE ABLERE
to the equity holders of the ZEREsE
Company for the year
— Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) —EARKEE (BB 11 (2.78) (3.52)

The Notes on pages 79 to 180 form part of these consolidated f579F180E MM B ZE LA BRERN—
financial statements. A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
R B WS IR L AR

As at 31 December 2021 R -_E_—F+_HA=+—H

74

2021 2020
ittt g SeS
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FHET FET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets EREEBE
Property, plant and equipment L EN Y 2 1,656 3,431
Intangible assets B EE 13 - =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 9,494 10,422
Deposit & 701 =
Deferred tax assets IR THE B 21 - 855
Total non-current assets ERBMEEEE 11,851 14,708
Current assets MEBEE
Other receivables, prepayments and HAREWGERIE ~ TR(I I
deposits igE 15 6,527 8,631
Tax prepayment TEMIRIE 4 4
Financial assets at fair value through BAREFTABRZ
profit or loss TREEE 16 - 3,056
Derivative financial instruments TTEERIE 17 4,579 5,914
Balances due from agents U IR4S R 18 33,963 47,827
Cash and bank balances and NSRRI TAEFRIA S
client trust bank balances E R {E:TiR1T4E R 19 273,692 350,296
Total current assets RENBEEMEE 318,765 415,728
Total assets BEHSE 330,616 430,436
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Eamk&aE
Equity HE
Share capital &N 24 20,333 20,333
Reserves (Bl 24 248,424 312,723
Total equity RS AEER 268,757 333,056
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR A WS IR L AR

As at 31 December 2021 R -2 _—F+_B=+—H

2021 2020
ittt g SeS
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HizE FHET FEx
Current liabilities Bt R=NE

Lease liabilities HESR 20 3,399 9,365
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEMENRIERESTEE 22 9,496 13,605
Derivative financial instruments TTEERIE 17 458 1,915
Clients’ balances Z R AR 23 42,266 68,918
Total current liabilities mENEEARE 55,619 93,803

Non-current liabilities EREEE
Lease liabilities HESR 20 6,240 1,334
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEaE 21 - 2,243
Total non-current liabilities JERENEELEE 6,240 3,577
Total liabilities BEMREE 61,859 97,380
Total equity and liabilities HESREE 330,616 430,436

The consolidated financial statements on pages 73 to 180 were S 73E180EMGEHMBERECN _E__F=
approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2022 and were E+HEHEESZHERBAUTEEAAEE-
signed on its behalf.

Yuan Feng Chung Cheuk Fan Marco
RIg EEE

The Notes on pages 79 to 180 form part of these consolidated f579F180E MM B ZE LA BRERN—
financial statements. A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
b DL Lk
an IZI fm 2% %)J i'%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 i ZE & _—F+_HA=+—HILFEE
Retained
Share Currency earnings/
Share Share Capital option  translation (accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses) equity
falE EBER  REBRH/
B RiEE e 1 1] (RathH) e

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
i3 TER TR TR TR TR TR TR
(Note 24(3)) (Note 24(b) (Note 24(b) (Note 24(b) (Note 24(b) (Note 24(b)
Wzto4e)  (Wsto4w)  (Ro4p)  (E2b)  WE4p)  (E240)

Balance at 1 January 2020 RIBZEE
—B—RZ&% 20,333 180,493 171,892 6,840 (22,316) 33,739 390,981

Comprehensive (expense) 27 (B%) /i

income
Loss for the year FERR - - - - - (71,636) (71,636)
Other comprehensive income FEHM2ENRE
for the year - - - - 13,680 - 13,680
Total comprehensive expense FEXERTAR
during the year - - - - 13,680 (71,636) (57,956)
Share option scheme Bt 2% = = = (4,664) = 4,695 31

Balance at 31 December 2020 R-ZE_Z&F+_H

and 1 January 2021 =+-H
kZEZ-%5-8
—HZ & 20,333 180,493 171,892 2,176 (8,636) (33,202) 333,056
Comprehensive expense 2ERY
Loss for the year FEFR - - - - - (56,542) (56,542)
Other comprehensive expense FEHMZERS
for the year - - - - (7,757) - (7,757)

Total comprehensive expense FELERRAR
during the year - - - - (7,757) (56,542) (64,299)
Share option scheme BRE 2 2% - - - (1,618) - 1,618 -

Balance at 31 December 2021 R-Z_—%+_F
=t+—Rz&8 20,333 180,493 171,892 558 (16,393) (88,126) 268,757

The Notes on pages 79 to 180 form part of these consolidated 5579ZF180EMMI BN ZELAEHMFREN—
financial statements. i)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HiE —Z

GEHSRER
——F+"B=1+—HILFE

2021 2020
T —EBCEHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bf2E T T
Cash flows from operating RETHFRBFHRERE
activities
Loss before tax PRIRAIES 18 (57,912) (81,158)
Adjustments for: FEE
Depreciation — property, plant and ME—*E - -BERRE
equipment 12 1,914 3,120
Depreciation — right-of-use assets mE—EREEE 14 9,721 11,723
Interest income FEUA 6 (99) (1,034)
Interest expense MEMZ 288 593
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE KRB RRZEN
plant and equipment w18 8 698 2
Impairment of property, ME-BEREREZRE
plant and equipment - 5
Impairment of intangible assets mEEEZRE - 2
Share option expenses BRERAS - 31
Net gain from financial assets BAREFTABTmZ
at fair value through profit or loss ETRBEEZ NG FEE (159) (61)
Reversal of provision for expected BORIEEEEEE
credit loss (390) (490)
Overprovision of the FMA penalty TS EIERERIMZ
HBEREE 6 (1,266) -
Cash flows used in operating activities HEEREERIRKE AR
before working capital changes FTREREER= (47,205) (67,267)
Changes in working capital: EESTEE .
Pledged time deposits BIREEHER - 84,120
Client trust bank balances E R E5TiR1T4E R 21,173 (15,798)
Balances due from agents FEUR IR AL BR 11,659 (19,665)
Derivative financial instruments TEERIE (311) 7,356
Other receivables, H AR WGERIE -
prepayments and deposits BNRIBEREE 1,316 283
Clients’ balances B R A5ER (23,268) 8,709
Other payables and accrued liabilities HEMENRIERESTBE (2,626) (14,162)
Cash used in operations KEFMARE (39,262) (16,424)
Income tax refund, net of tax paid FriRiRiR el PR ENIRIE - 10,553
Net cash used in operating activities K REPTRIRE 3R (39,262) (5,871)

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % . —4F#



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

el einE R

For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE—Z

TRt HIEFE

2021 2020
—E-—% “ETEHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
23 FTHET FHET
Cash flows from investing KRETHFRERENE
activities
Interest received GG 99 1,034
Purchase of property, plant and equipment §& B %% B E K& 2 (860) (628)
Acquisition of financial assets at WEZAABEFABRZ
fair value through profit or loss TREE - (2,988)
Sales proceeds from disposal of financial —~ HERAAEFF ABTZ
assets at fair value through profit or loss RS E 2 IHEFTEIE 2,976 =
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities & ZE EENFFS (FTF) IREF58 2,215 (2,582)
Cash flows from financing MEEHFR/RERE
activities
Repayment of principal portion of BEREaREAEED
lease liabilities 25 (9,855) (11,753)
Interest paid BAHE (288) (593)
Net cash used in financing activities MEEEFFTEIRS F5E (10,143) (12,346)
Net decrease in cash and cash HERREEEWRLVIFEE
equivalents (47,190) (20,799)
Cash and cash equivalents at FYRERIREEEY
beginning of year 19 287,093 295,534
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, — FEZREH) 5 2528
net (5,436) 12,358
Cash and cash equivalents FRFAERREEZEY
at end of year 19 234,467 287,093
The Notes on pages 79 to 180 form part of these consolidated Z79ZF180BE MMt ZEH M FERETM—

financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

NEEH

1.1 —fRER

1 CORPORATE INFORMATION 1

1.1 General information

CLSA Premium Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 9 November 2010 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated
and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its registered office
address is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company
is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the provision of leveraged foreign
exchange and other trading, cash dealing business, and
other services.

The Company’s shares are listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). As at 31 December 2021, 59.03% of the
Company's issued shares are held by CITIC Securities
Overseas Investment Company Limited (a company
incorporated in Hong Kong and its ultimate holding
company is CITIC Securities Company Limited which
incorporated in the People’s Republic of China), 14.75%
of the Company’s issued shares are held by KVB Holdings
Limited.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

CLSA Premium Limited (TZ&A& )
RIE—ZF+—ANLHBREHEES
BHERAEFENE RIZEREIIN
—NAAR—FEZHRE) RHEHS
AMRIIAEREBERRE cKAF]
By £ 3% =5 BE ik A Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman
Islandse "R AB A —BEEERA
B HEMBABS FENRSFRMEBEERX
HEZXZREMRZ - REXZETR
T EL At AR 75 o

ARBIRMREEMEZIZFAAER
rEl (MBI ERET-RZE
T —F+ZR=+—HFxraZ
59.03% B &7 M B EHS B
KREBBRAE (—XIREAFEMALL
Z2RE EREERABSAPRELS
BRNDBRABE] —RNAEARKEM
Bz R) FEREABZ
14.75% B #1715 HKVB Holdings
LimitediE A °

BRIERARE A MBRERLB T
(T&7Tl)) 2% e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented,

unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

mMRZEGAVMBRRAEBNEESS
BRHIMT - FRBARBPIN ZFHER
—HBRRABEIEFE-

2.1 REIRHE

The consolidated financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and applicable
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622). In addition, the financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange. The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost except for certain financial assets and financial liabilities
(including derivative instruments) measured at fair value as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements are
disclosed in Note 4.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREBE (7
(a) FRAFETHASNEST E BB E

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs -

effective on or after 1 January 2021

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants to these financial statements for
the current accounting period:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest rate benchmark
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, reform — phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16  COVID-19-related rent
concessions beyond
30 June 2021

These new or amended HKFRSs that are effective from
1 January 2021 did not have any significant impact on
the Group's accounting policies.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16: Interest rate benchmark reform — phase 2

The amendments provide targeted reliefs from (i)
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
contractual cash flows of financial assets, financial
liabilities and lease liabilities as modifications, and (i)
discontinuing hedge accounting when an interest rate
benchmark is replaced by an alternative benchmark
rate as a result of the reform of interbank offered rates
(“IBOR reform”).

The amendments do not have an impact on these
financial statements as the Group does not have
contracts that are indexed to benchmark interest rates
which are subject to the IBOR reform.

ER-R_FE—_—F—F—H5E
ZHBEH

AEBENAE B HZEM
BREREBUTEBEMAE
B EBPMBFREER BT
bi

EEMBRAEAE  FERENE-
$EREHENE  ZoME

3958 BB HHRS

ZR575% HAM

BREZABSRN

ERMBREER

F165EZ A

EBUBREENE —T—FA

BB A =tRz#&2
MR RAS
LiEEmEE
BE

ZEB_E_—F—F8—HiEEE
2] BT E B ERS
HEAWERAER Z S BEKRE
FEAEAFE-

EEHBEREERF9 & &
iR E399  BEEMERE
ERF79 BEEMEREEL
BAFREBEMHRETERFI6
FEZNEET R D KB E—F
R
ZEETARMERB T AEMN
HEBERRR (©WEESME
E-tHEaEREEEABENEN
HeERENEENEHIERLE
STHETEEERIE ; R>GDBRIRT
BERERE(TETEHERE
KE))  BREEEHENEE
MEERMAR B4R IES PSR
o

ZEETFLERNZETYHERE
ERFE DAAERILEER
ER RN EARIRITRERE X
BERENGN-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(a) Adoption of new or revised HKFRSs -

effective on or after 1 January 2021
(continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16: COVID-19-related
rent concessions beyond 30 June 2021

The Group previously applied the practical expedient
in HKFRS 16 such that as lessee it was not required
to assess whether rent concessions occurring as a
direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic were
lease modifications, if the eligibility conditions are
met in Note 2.7. One of these conditions requires
the reduction in lease payments affect only payments
originally due on or before a specified time limit. The
2021 amendment extends this time limit from 30 June
2021 to 30 June 2022.

As the Group has no rent concessions during the year
ended 31 December 2021, the Company's directors
considered that the effective of amendments to
HKFRS 16 had no significant impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2

g

EGSTHREE (@)

E= =

2.1 RREE (@)

(a)

RAAFTET HASIEET E B BB E
ER-R_FE—_—F—HF—H%
ZEEH B

BEMBHREERF 165 ZE
I —EZ—FNA=+HZ
BZH TN HERIFEMEE
EBx

FEEEHNERBEBMBRS
ZRFB16XNAITRE D E ]
ERABA HHEWME2.789
Bt EBEFERAREY
RESREMERERNESE
EEEBRNEEET -HPh—I18
BHERBEEMRNBLETE
EHEEREAS A B AR
AR Z B —FEITEARFZE
RE-Z_—FA=+HEE
ET__HFRB=1H-

HRAEBRRBEE_Z - —F
+ZB=+—BI-FEHMT &
HMEBE ARBDEERA B
BB REERNFEI165R ZEE]
KZERBEAEBZREHER
RIB\BEATE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective
and have not been early adopted by the Group. The
Group's current intention is to apply these changes on
the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework’
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current? 4

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
- Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract’
Annual Improvements to HKFRS  Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-
2018-2020 Cycle time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments, HKFRS16 Leases
and HKAS 41 Agriculture’

Ao o U 5 R B

EGSTHREE (@)

2.1 RREE (@)
(b) EREfHE KL ZHETEHAZE

FIEEMBREER

AEBEEKEFHEA T EBM
BEHARENBAIERAFTERIRS
MBRRBM M NEETE
BYBRESER - XEEH A #
REEMARERAZREEH-

ERMBREEN RAGSER
EEEPACEIE
ERMBREEN REEEHKE

FI0FERES ARHEER

St 2855285 RZBWEE

A IR HENHE’
BEREHEAEIT REEIE

A IR RPN

ELEi

BAGHENSIT GFHERZKE?

REBUBRS

ZRBHRE

EVEPACEIE

EREHERNESE B ZER
AN
EREHENFI6T WE - BEAR
AN E-RERR
B Z FBFIE
EREHERNSETR BRAN-BTA
AN AT
BERUBREGEDN BRUBREE
“E-N\EE BE 1R E
“EIEEHE MEBIHER
o HEANEE
IBIRE R
FOREMT
B -BERE
REZEAE16
FHERER
B ERFEH
TREZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

5 @

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Z Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

e No mandatory effective date yet determined but
available for adoption

o As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1,
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised in October 2020 to align the corresponding
wording with no change in conclusion

Except for the impact mentioned below, the
Company’s directors anticipate that the application
of the other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

The amendments update HKFRS 3 so that it refers
to the revised Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 instead of the version issued in 2010.
The amendments add to HKFRS 3 a requirement
that, for obligations within the scope of HKAS 37, an
acquirer applies HKAS 37 to determine whether at the
acquisition date a present obligation exists as a result
of past events. For a levy that would be within the
scope of HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, the acquirer applies
HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 to determine whether the obligating
event that gives rise to a liability to pay the levy has
occurred by the acquisition date. The amendments
also add an explicit statement that an acquirer does
not recognise contingent assets acquired in a business
combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREE (@)
(b) EREfHE KL ZHETEHAZE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the Conceptual
Framework (continued)

The Company’s directors do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have
an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture

The amendments clarify with situations where there
is a sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture. When the transaction
with an associate or joint venture that is accounted for
using the equity method, any gains or losses resulting
from the loss of control of a subsidiary that does not
contain a business are recognised in the profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investors' interests
in that associate or joint venture. Similarly, any gains
or losses resulting from the remeasurement of retained
interest in any former subsidiary (that has become an
associate or a joint venture) to fair value are recognised
in the profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investors’ interests in the new associate or joint
venture.

The Company'’s directors anticipate that the application
of these amendments may have an impact on the
financial statements in future periods should such
transaction arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

The amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity's right to
defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity
complying with specified conditions, the entity has a
right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of
the reporting period if it complies with those conditions
at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by
the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement of the liability. The amendments also
clarify the situations that are considered a settlement
of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is
permitted.

The Company's directors do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments and revision in the
future will have an impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the
term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREE (@)
(b) EREfHE KL ZHETEHAZE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of
the related transactions, other events or conditions,
even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not
all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself
material. If an entity chooses to disclose immaterial
accounting policy information, such information must
not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality
Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also
amended to illustrate how an entity applies the
“four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an
accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice
Statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies (continued)

The application of the amendments is not expected
to have significant impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group but may affect the
disclosures of the Group's significant accounting
policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group's future consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of Accounting
Estimates

The amendments define accounting estimates as
“monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting
policy may require items in financial statements to
be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may
require such items to be measured at monetary
amounts that cannot be observed directly and
must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the
objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing
accounting estimates involves the use of judgements
or assumptions based on the latest available, reliable
information.

The Company's directors do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have
an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 RREE (@)
(b) EREfHE KL ZHETEHAZE

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16, Proceeds before Intended
Use

The amendments prohibit deducting from the cost
of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing
that asset to the location and condition necessary for
it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by management. Instead, the proceeds from selling
such items, and the cost of producing those items, is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Company’s directors do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have
an impact on the consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts — Cost
of Fulfilling a Contract

The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a
contract comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the
contract’. Costs that relate directly to a contract can
either be incremental costs of fulfilling that contract
(e.g. direct labour and materials) or an allocation of
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts
(e.g. the allocation of the depreciation charge for an
item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling
the contract).

The Company’s directors do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have
an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The annual improvements amends a number of
standards, including:

HKFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, which permit a subsidiary that
applies paragraph D16(a) of HKFRS 1 to measure
cumulative translation differences using the amounts
reported by its parent, based on the parent’'s date of
transition to HKFRSs.

HKFRS 9, Financial Instruments, which clarify the fees
included in the “10 per cent’ test in paragraph B3.3.6
of HKFRS 9 in assessing whether to derecognise a
financial liability, explaining that only fees paid or
received between the entity and the lender, including
fees paid or received by either the entity or the lender
on other’s behalf are included.

HKFRS 16, Leases, which amend lllustrative Example
13 to remove the illustration of reimbursement of
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to
resolve any potential confusion regarding the treatment
of lease incentives that might arise because of how
lease incentives are illustrated in that example.

HKAS 41, Agriculture, which remove the requirement
to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the
fair value of a biological asset using a present value
technique.

The Company’s directors do not anticipate that the
application of the amendments in the future will have
an impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

2.2.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are
fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. On an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the
non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s net assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

2.2.1 Consolidation (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value
of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case
of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in the statement of comprehensive income.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

222 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

EEGBRBE @)

2.3 SEpIRE

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent RENHNRSEANERETIEE
BRARANALREAR R -TE
EERRARABERDRERKTH
ERKENBRENALHER K
EEEETRITESAEREEREF

2.3 Segment reporting

with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision maker. The chief operating decision maker is the
person or group that allocates resources to and assesses the
performance of the operating segments of an entity. The

Group has determined the executive directors and senior REFESEREKAN
management as its chief operating decision maker.
2.4 Foreign currency translation 2.4 SMERIKR

(a) Functional and presentation currency (a) THEERZEIEHE

(b)

[tems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is the Company’s functional and the
Group's presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each consolidated
statement of financial position presented are
translated at the closing rate at the end of each
reporting period;

(i) income and expenses for each consolidated
statements of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the
transactions); and

(iii) all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment 2.5 ME - -BEKREKE

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or are recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group
and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the profit or loss
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:
Leasehold improvements 10 years or over the lease
term, whichever is shorter

Computer equipment 3 to 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3 to 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 3 to 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Assets that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.5

2.6

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts. These are included in
‘other operating expenses’ in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Intangible assets

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised over the useful economic lifes (3 to 5 years) and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of
each reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually. Such intangible assets are not
amortised. The useful lives of intangible assets with indefinite
lives are reviewed annually to determine whether indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite
is accounted for on a prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases

The Group as lessee

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance
leases) are required to be capitalised in the statement of
financial position as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities,
but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/
or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of low-value.
The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which
at the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases
have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be initially recognised at cost
and would comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy to account
for lease liability);

(i) any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(i) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee in
dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the
condition required by the terms and conditions of the
lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce
inventories.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use asset (continued)

The Group measures the right-of-use asset applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-
of-use asset at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability. Depreciation of right-of-use asset is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate its cost
over the lease term.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be
readily determined, the Group uses the Group's incremental
borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right to use the underlying
asset during the lease term that are not paid at the
commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease
payments:

(i) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable;

(i) variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
commencement date;

(i) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

(iv) the exercise price of a purchase option, if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

EEGBRBE @)

2.7 Leases (continued) 2.7 G #@)

Lease liability (continued)

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the
lease liability;

(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease
payments made; and

(i) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modifications, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a
lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it
adjusts the carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect
the payments to make over the revised term, which are
discounted using a revised discount rate. The carrying
value of lease liabilities is similarly revised when the variable
element of future lease payments dependent on a rate
or index is revised, except the discount rate remains
unchanged. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is
made to the carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the
revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining
(revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is
recognised in profit or loss.

HEERRE (&)

REGEHRE c&EBZB T AN
STEHEaE:

(i EMEREEURKREBEESENF
I%\ ;

(i) AAOREEURBIEHNEEN
R

(i) EFtEREEURBERMEMD
HEEEN ARBREETNE
BEEEEMR-

AEEESTEHEREEFHRRE
(BIIMESEBHFEEBAAGTE
JEHAS AR LR B R A AEE) BB
EHEEENREE UARBRELE
] FHIM AT RIRIE I SR A A E
SJREIRRAEIR EFTBURN F X 3 f5
BOARRBEENRZAUEZERE [
KRESHERENREE ERKIEX
REAE - ELEAMBERLT 98
HERREENREEETHEENS
B EESTONREER N R R e
5]) HEHREHE HEREEEZ
SREERFABRES AEAE—D R
BB PN o

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED

EC AR, 99



100

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Leases (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of
a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one
or more additional assets being leased for an amount
commensurate with the standalone price for the additional
rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as
a separate lease, in all other cases, where the renegotiated
increases the scope of the lease (whether that is an
extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using
the discount rate applicable on the modification date, with
the right-of-use asset being adjusted by the same amount.
With the exception to which the practical expedient for
COVID-19- Related Rent Concessions applies (see Note
2.1), if the renegotiation results in a decrease in the scope
of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability
and right-of-use asset are reduced by the same proportion
to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with
any difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability
is then further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount
reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over
the renegotiated term, with the modified lease payments
discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date
and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have indefinite useful lifes are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Assets
that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which
are largely independent of the cash inflows from other
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the
end of each reporting period.

In testing a cash generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash generating
unit or group of cash generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash generating unit or group of
cash generating units.

Financial assets
2.9.1 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

e  those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through profit or loss or through other
comprehensive income); and

e those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the Group's business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)

2.9.1 Classification (continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

2.9.2 Recognition and derecognition

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date — the date on which the
Group commits to purchase or sell the assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

2.9.3 Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in
profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes
in the fair value of the “financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss” category are included directly in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Financial assets (continued)
2.9.3 Measurement (continued)

Certain financial assets are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method less impairment if
any. The Group's receivables and deposits, balances
due from agents and bank balances fall under this
category. These financial assets are measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method. Interest on loans is included in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
and is reported as net interest income.

2.94 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

2.100ffsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be
contingent on future events and must be enforceable in
the normal course of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11Derivative financial instruments

The Group classifies derivatives as financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss at
inception. The Group does not classify any derivatives as
hedges in a hedging relationship.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-
measured at their fair values. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair values are recognised in the “leveraged
foreign exchange and other trading income” in the period in
which they arise.

2.12Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, deposits
at banks, bank deposits with original maturities of three
months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and cash
equivalents available for the disposition of the Group and
exclude client trust bank balances, and bank deposits held
to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

2.13Rental, utility and other deposits

Rental, utility and other deposits held on a long term basis
are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less impairment if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

2145REE

2.14Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities representing other payables and
clients’” balance are recognised initially at fair value net
of transaction costs incurred. Financial liabilities are
subsequently stated at amortised cost; any difference
between proceeds net of transaction costs and the
redemption value is recognised in the profit or loss over the
period of the other financial liabilities using the effective
interest method. Financial liabilities are derecognised when
they are extinguished — that is, when the obligation is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

2.15Provision

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. When the
time value of money is material, provisions are stated at
the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated
reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or
more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefits scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the
“Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong
Kong. Contributions are made based on a percentage
of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary, which
operates in New Zealand, are eligible to participate
in KiwiSaver plan on a voluntary basis. This subsidiary
is required to contribute certain percentage of its
payroll costs to the fund only if employees are making
contribution to KiwiSaver plan. The contributions are
charged to the profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary, which
operates in Australia, are required to participate in
employee superannuation fund. This subsidiary is
required to contribute certain percentage of its payroll
costs to the fund. The contributions are charged to the
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the fund.

The assets of the Scheme and other plans as
described above are held separately from those of
the Group in an independently administered fund.
The Group's employer contributions vest fully with the
employees when contributed into the Scheme and
other plans.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Employee leave entitlements

(c)

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they are accrued to employees. A provision is
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the end
of reporting period.

Bonus

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses, in which the bonus scheme is at the
discretion of the Group's directors based on the Group
performance that takes into consideration the profit
attributable to the Group after certain adjustments.
The Group recognises a provision where contractually
obliged or where there is a past practice that has
created a constructive obligation.

2.17Share-based payment transactions

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The Group operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the
Group's operations. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-
based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
with reference to the fair value estimated by external
valuer under a valuation model commonly used in the
market.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17Share-based payment transactions (continued)

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

(continued)

In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account
is taken of any performance conditions, other than
conditions linked to the price of the shares of the
Company (“market conditions”), if applicable.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the year in which the service conditions are fulfilled,
ending on the date on which the relevant employees
become fully entitled to the award (the “vesting
date”). The cumulative expense recognised for equity-
settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the
vesting year has expired and the Group's best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately
vest. The charge or credit to the profit or loss for a year
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that year.

Upon exercise of share options, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve and the proceeds
received net of any directly attributable transaction
costs up to the nominal value of the share issued are
reallocated to share capital with any excess being
recorded as share premium.

When the share options are lapsed, forfeited or still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEEFHHERHME @)
POLICIES (continued)

217 BZHRS @)
(a) BEAERGZTHXTE (&

2.17Share-based payment transactions (continued)

(a) Equity-settled share-based payment

transactions (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification, which
increases the total fair value of the share-based
payment arrangement, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. However, if a new award is substituted
for the cancelled award, and is designated as a
replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

(b) Share-based payment transaction among Group

entities

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting periods an
increase to investment in subsidiaries undertakings,
with a corresponding credit to equity in the parent
entity accounts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.18Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Dividend on ordinary shares is recognised as a liability
in the consolidated financial statements in the period in
which it is approved by the shareholders or directors where
appropriate.

2.19Income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit of loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of reporting period in the countries where
the Group's subsidiaries operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates position
taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 SEFHHEHRE @)

POLICIES (continued)
2197151 (&)
(b) EEFF1ZHE

2.19Income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is recognised in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax
liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary difference can
be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
except for deferred income tax liability where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled
by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20Goods and Services Tax (“GST")

The financial statements have been prepared so that
expenses/costs are stated inclusive of GST, where
appropriate. The Group is not a registered person in term of
the Goods and Services Tax Act 1985 in New Zealand.

2.21Revenue recognition

Revenue of the Group is recognised on the following bases:

(i)  Leveraged foreign exchange and other trading income,
when the services have been rendered;

(i) fees and commission income, when the services have
been rendered;

(i) management fees income, when the services have
been rendered; and

(iv) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that discounts the
estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

2.22Cash dealing income

Unleveraged cash dealing services are provided to
corporate clients, in particular, those clients engaged in
money changing business for the purpose of hedging their
cash positions and meeting settlement obligations. The
Group is rewarded by the spread between the price quoted
to our clients and the price offered by our market makers.
Cash dealing income is recognised when cash dealing
transactions have been completed by market makers with
reference to prevailing exchange rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23Government Grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose
of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they become receivable and are recognised
as other revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Risk is inherent in the financial service business and sound
risk management is a cornerstone of prudent and successful
financial practice. The Group acknowledges that a balance must
be achieved between risks, control and business growth. The
principal financial risks inherent in the Group's business are credit
risk, market risk (including interest rate risk and foreign currency
risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
objective is to enhance shareholder value while retaining exposure
within acceptable thresholds in response to changes in markets.
The Group has a robust risk management system in place to
identify, analyse, assess and manage risks.

Ao o U 5 R B

EEGBRBE @)

2.23 AT BN

BR@R A EEEAERSHT S
A R B A5 15 1 e & W B e 4/ B B
73T HER e

il FE U T /B BN Th R E R ER X E
ZENBERENAOAERREHITER
BABRA R AR BN B 52 1% > T FE
WS HA RS S 48 o B ST 0 0 B SRS E Ath
Wz o M IR PRABRIR X

M ERER

TRRFGERSGEFETRE AT IZE
NEBREEGE  HEXBIEMAINAM
HoAEBNTRAR EHREFERZ
BRAEBR TR AEENEFEENEE
TRERSEERR THRER (BFEF
KRR RS E R BR) Ko B R b o A&
ENcEAREEERRNEHTISS

B> R FrE B AR R R IR KTER
2 FRRNIRERREE-FEEE
BUTENRBEEBERFUHI 0~
T e B 2R LB o

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %~ —4FE#

113



114

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

The policies for managing each of these risks are summarised
below:

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to
the Group. The Group is exposed to credit risk from bank
balances, balances due from agents, derivative financial
instruments, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and other receivables and deposits. After evaluating
the clients’ risk profiles, the Group sets stop-out levels to
the clients. Once their equity drops to the stop-out level
the Group's trading system will automatically liquidate the
client’s positions. Without taking into account any collateral
held or other credit enhancements, the maximum exposure
to credit risk is the carrying amounts of these assets. The
Group monitors the credit risk exposure of the balances on a
regular basis, taking into account the financial position and
past experience. The Group did not experience any losses
from non-performance by the counterparties. The balances
due from agents have no defaults in the past.

The Group’s bank deposits are held with banks and
balances due from agents are held with major financial
institutions. Management reviews the banks and financial
institutions’ creditworthiness on a regular basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKER @)
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 3.1 E8EE #)

(a) EHEERE

(a) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three types of financial assets that are
subject to HKFRS 9 expected credit loss assessment:

. Cash and bank balances and client trust bank
balances;

e  Balances due from agents; and

e Other receivables and deposits.

The Group measures loss allowances for these
financial assets at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses, which is an estimate of losses
that the Group expects will result from a credit event,
such as a payment default.

To measure the expected credit losses, the Group
determines the expected loss rates based on the
credit default rates of the debtors of these financial
assets with reference to the corresponding credit
ratings from internationally renowned credit rating
agencies. These rates are further adjusted to reflect the
possible changes in the current and forwarding looking
macroeconomic factors which may result in different
default behavior and credit risks of the debtors.
At each reporting date, the credit default rates are
updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates
are analysed.

As at 31 December 2021, the 12-month ECL
calculated by the Group is not material and there has
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Credit risk (continued)
(a) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The movement in the provision for expected credit loss
account in respect of bank balances and client trust
bank balances, balances due from agents and other
receivables and deposits during the year is as follows:

3 MBEARER#@
3.1 FEER @)

Bank balances

(a) THEERE (&

Emﬁﬁﬁﬁuﬁ%ﬁhﬁﬁﬁ

G BN IEBEE R R EMEW
ME&E%ZE%EE%E%@
BEEBUWT !

and client Balances Other
trust bank due from receivables
balances agents  and deposits Total
17
Consolidated statement of ERURER RKKE  HthEkE
financial position (extract)  S&MBERRE (H) aeEsRITHERR i@ k& #ast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET TET
Balance at 1 January 2020 RZZE-ZF—F—B#& 426 574 40 1,040
Reversal of provision of expected ~ E[EIERE R
credit loss recognised during RHEEEERE
the year (133) (321) (36) (490)
Exchange differences ERER 21 24 = 45
Balance at 31 December 2020and RZZZZF+"F=1+—Hk
1 January 2021 “E--ZE-B-A&H 314 277 4 595
Reversal of provision of expected ~ BEIERTEHREEFBEEE
credit loss during the year (311) (75) (4) (390)
Exchange differences ERER (3) (11) = (14)
Balance at 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+"F=+—H
&5 - 191 - 191
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HEEKER @)
3.1 EEAR @

(b) 755 # #da 3 H 15 B 1 H Fi Y

3.1 Credit risk (continued)

(b) Maximum exposure to credit risk before

collateral held or other credit enhancements

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event the counterparties fail to perform their
obligations as at the end of reporting period, in
relation to each class of financial assets, is the amounts
of those assets before provision for expected credit
loss as indicated in the consolidated statement of
financial position. These amounts represent the
worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the
Group at 31 December 2021 and 2020, without
taking into account any collateral held or other credit
enhancements attached.

The amounts of receivables and other assets arising

REERARE

5T HRERREHABTH
EE UAREFEERSES
BEEANNEBEEARES
GEHMBERREAMTREAE
REBESEREENNSE.
RESEASEANR B4
R-B-BE+=A=+—8F
EENESARNREEY A
oK 5t R AE P % 49 S S AR BY 2L
i E B R ER -

REEEEBBREFEENERK

from the course of business of the Group are as MEREMEETZENT -
follows:
2021 2020
—E—% TETEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TET
Other receivables and deposits HihEW Bk EE 4,037 4,410
Financial assets at fair value through ?L NAESFABRZ EMEE
profit or loss - 3,056
Derivative financial instruments* TTEEMIT A 4,579 5,914
Balances due from agents FEW IR 4G BR 34,154 48,104
Cash and bank balances and client RS R IRTTAEER A
trust bank balances B {S5EIR1TAARR 273,692 350,610
Total gross amounts MEE St 316,462 412,094

*: Being net amounts of financial assets presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position but before
netting off collateral or other credit enhancement.

* ARG RIS B AT
B E BRI ERAESB)E
HEEFER o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Credit risk (continued)

(c) None of the financial assets is either past due or
impaired.

(d) The following table breaks down the Group’s major
credit exposure at their amounts, as categorised by
geographical region as of 31 December 2021 and
2020. The Group has allocated exposures to regions
based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.
Credit risk exposure by geographical sectors is
classified according to the location of counterparties
after taking into account the transfer of risk.

As at 31 December 2021

3 R
3.1 EERAK @)

(c)

(d)

SEIE ()

BETHEEARIAE-

TERUSBEMDETEBNETEE
ERB TRBE"ZT-_—FK
—ECEETA=1+T—HAH
RN E AEERERS
FHBFREBRR Sk RREE &Mt
& @B D HIEE R RS
RERRBRRENFHRAEMT
ViE K

WZE-_—+-H=+—H

Asia Pacific

excluding Europe and
Hong Kong Hong Kong  other regions Total

TAHE 5904
A (FaEEH) HiE ozt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET TAT AT AT
Other receivables and deposits HitEWRE RS 3,881 156 - 4,037
Derivative financial instruments THESRIE - 4,579 - 4,579
Balances due from agents PRI IRASER - 34,154 - 34,154

Cash and bank balances and ReRRTERUK

client trust bank balances R EFRITAR 123,808 126,244 23,640 273,692
Total st 127,689 165,133 23,640 316,462
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKRERE @)
3.1 Credit risk (continued) 3.1 8RR @)
(d) (continued) (d) #&)
As at 31 December 2020 RZE_ZF+_H=+—H
Asia Pacific
excluding Europe and
Hong Kong Hong Kong other regions Total
TAME BN R
) FEEER) Hini@ azt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TERT
Other receivables and deposits EfRBTIERES 3,304 1,106 - 4,410
Financial assets at fair value BAREHABRZEHEE
through profit or loss - 3,056 - 3,056
Derivative financial instruments EEMIA 10 5,904 = 5,914
Balances due from agents PRI IBASER - 48,104 - 48,104
Cash and bank balances and ReRRITEHUK
dlient trust bank balances R EFRITHR 196,663 112,012 41,935 350,610
Total st 199,977 170,182 41,935 412,094
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BHRKREE @
3.2 Market risk 3.2 miGEKE
3.2.1 Interest rate risk 3.2.1 F E 7 Bz
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as the Group HRAEBERMERGESRKRE
invests all surplus funds in accounts with reputable REERFHFAHNRAIUZE
counterparties and is susceptible to movements in call HMERANE RN EE WARE
interest rates. Interest rate risk arises from unexpected 3 ) = 37 Bz o F) = & R B
changes in interest rates that may result in an adverse MENBINKE > AEERHK
impact on the Group's current and near future EENRSRITARTESETF
performance. The Group has not used any interest rate 524 o K & B R A A AE Al F) =
swaps nor forward interest rate contracts to hedge its BHNEBRMNESOHEBENEX
exposure to interest rate risk. 2 g o
As at 31 December 2021 R-_E_—&+"A=+—8H
Floating Fixed Provision
interest interest ~ Non-interest  for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
BHEE
BHFIE il %8 ik st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR
Assets BE
Other receivables and deposits HitEWFRIBRES - - 4,037 - 4,037
Derivative financial instruments fTE4mIR - - 4,579 - 4,579
Balances due from agents PRI IB4EER - - 34,154 (191) 33,963
Cash and bank balances and RERBIHBEUR
client trust bank balances BRESRTAR 233,842 38,980 870 - 273,692
Liabilities =4
Lease labilities HEsR - 9,639 - - 9,639
Other payables HitERFIE - - 7475 - 7475
Derivative financial instruments fTEERMIE - - 458 - 458
Clients’ balances B R - - 42,266 - 42,266
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BHEEKERE @)
3.2 HIZEK &)

3.2.1 F| E R (&

3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.1 Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2020 A\TECEFH B =+—H
Floating Fixed Provision
interest interest Non-interest for expected
rate rate bearing credit loss Total
HEE
HEFIE ERES %8 BERE ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TAT T TR
Assets BE
Other receivables and deposits HitERFEREE = = 4410 o 4,406
Financial assets at fair value through BRARMESARRZ
profit or loss THEE 3,056 - - - 3,056
Derivative financial instruments fTESBIA = = 5914 = 5914
Balances due from agents el aSes 2 = 48,102 77) 41,821
Cash and bank balances and ReRBTHEEUR
client trust bank balances ERETRTER 348,200 = 2410 (314) 350,296
Liabilities 8f
Lease liabilties HE&E - 10,699 - S 10,699
Other payables HitE[RIE - - 12,332 = 12,332
Derivative financial instruments TESBIE - = 1,915 = 1,915
Clients' balances REER - = 68918 = 68918

R R R IR H fth 7] & A R (R
BFAEsE MAERS TH
1% B E_T_-_—F+_58
=t+—BHLEEENKRREBEER
##n 492,338,000 7T (=
T 493,482,000 7T) K
SHEEA0,R/0£92,338,000
BT (ZTE2ETEF [ 493,482,000
BIT) °

Based on the simulations performed and with other
variables held constant, should the interest rate
increase/decrease by 1%, the loss after taxation for
the year ended 31 December 2021 would increase/
decrease by approximately HK$2,338,000 (2020:
approximately HK$3,482,000) and the equity would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$2,338,000 HE
(2020: approximately HK$3,482,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.2 Foreign currency risk

Exchange rate fluctuation is the most significant risk
in leveraged foreign exchange trading. The Group
takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in
the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on
its financial position and cash flows. The Group is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to New
Zealand dollars and Australian dollars. The Group
will suffer a loss if it fails to cover a client deal at a
better exchange rate. The Group monitors foreign
exchange exposure by reviewing the open position of
the Group and client trading performance. The risk is
measured by the use of sensitivity analysis and cash
flow forecasting. Specific risk limits are set to measure
and monitor foreign exchange risk. Any excessive
foreign exchange risks are passed on to other financial
institutions through execution of trades with those
institutions. The management sets limits on the level
of exposure by currency and in aggregate for both
overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored
on an intra-day basis.

The Group has certain investments in foreign
operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign
currency translation risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency policy to hedge its currency
exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s
foreign operations.

The Group trades in foreign currencies, commodities
and other products through its margin trading
business. In order to protect against their exposures to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and commodity
prices, the Group has entered into a number of
derivative contracts with the Group’s counterparties in
the normal course of business.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

3

BT L

SEIE ()

3.2 HiBER #)
3.2.2 S EE L%

EXIHERNIIETZPE
BEBAWER c AEBNI KR
ERERERNEEREZTEHN
FEMAE R ANEEKTU
WA OB T A ENEEINE
B mMAEBKRELEEEE
ETEERZ AERZIEL
AEBEBBEEAEEBNKRFER
EHARERR G RIFEZIER
B o B B T 4 48 I R SRR 9 AT
KRR REBTEUNE H A EITE
E - RTERRRGDATERE
290 BE B B T 5% o (E 7 BB R AMNEE
BB )5 B S E fh B R A T
ROEBEREZESHEBE - EEEBY
MR & BN H FF 8 B 1 K AR B8 FiT K
ENREKERERLE REH
BER AT LB 2R o

TEBFEETBIINEBRAE
HEEFEAEBRIINEZBRER -
A& B Al HE NS BUR
DS HARAREEBIINEFEETF
BEENINESERE -

FEEZEBEREESRZEHE
TN - BmekEMERRKS -
HREAERFIREXRLRBRE
BEBZRBETE AEBNE
FEBRRETRAZZHFEIIL
ZIEMEEMN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRMEIE &
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 MR @)
3.2.2 Foreign currency risk (continued) 322 9)ME R BE (B
The tables below summarise the Group’s exposure to TRP|AAXEBRZZ—F K
foreign currency exchange rate risk as at 31 December TETEFE+"A=+—HEBE
2021 and 2020. Included in the tables are the assets HINERPE e TRMAMUBTE
and liabilities at carrying amounts in HK$ equivalent, WEREEYRTIZREEE SHEN
categorised by the original currency. BEEREGR-
As at 31 December 2021 R_E-_—&+”-A=+—8H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HKS NZD AUD uss JPY RMB Others loss Total
ElRE
T HEER o e BE AEE Ht BEEE o3t

HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
Fin T Fn Fin Fin Fin F#n T#n Fin

Assets BE
Other receivables and deposits ~ EfENFIAR %S 3,881 19 137 - - - - - 4,037
Derivative financial instruments 74 £ BT 2 - 23 2,985 1371 - - - - 4,579
Balances due from agents EUREL 154 121 56 33473 280 - 70 (191) 33,963
Cash and bank balances and RERBTRENR

client trust bank balances RRETRTLE 4,306 27,266 25,181 203,852 1125 10,493 1,469 - 273,692
Liahilities af
Lease liabilties HE&E 8,374 - 1,265 - - - - - 9,639
Other payables EfhERzE 3,658 832 2,030 955 - - - - 1475
Derivative financial instruments £ £BIA - 3 2 434 - - - - 458
Clients" balances RELGH 315 1,108 18,045 2,51 21 - - - 42,266
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HUHBERAKREIRE (&
3.2 Market risk (continued) 3.2 HIZEK &)
322 Foreign currency risk (continued) 3.2.2 5FEE R fE (4E)
As at 31 December 2020 A CECEF+_H=+—H
Provision
for
expected
credit
HK$ NID AUD Us§ Y RVB QOthers loss Total
BHEE
AT HERR B e BE AR Aft BiRERE 3t

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
Tin Fin TiEn TEn Fin Fin Tin TEn Tin

Assets EE
Other receivables and deposits IR TER %% 3304 10 262 48 = 786 = ) 4,406
Financial assets at fair value BAREFABRZ

through profit or loss SREE - - 3,056 - - - - - 3056
Derivative financial instruments ~~ fT££BIE = 2,386 249 937 3 = 66 = 5914
Balances due from agents RNRESS 130 5 46 47559 313 - 51 () 480
Cash and bank balances and clent B R4 MR

trust bank balances BRERTER 4524 16,023 4519 271,59 1,249 10,490 1537 (314) 350,29
Liabilities &f
Lease liabiities fE&E 8038 = 2,661 = = = = = 10,699
Other payables EtEfEE 283 6320 1,653 1,507 - 2 - - 12332
Derivative financial instruments 14 £BT A - 2 21 1672 - - - - 1915
Clients’ balances RR&H - 6,140 38232 24294 252 - - - 68918
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2 Market risk (continued)

3.2.2 Foreign currency risk (continued)

The following table indicates the impact of
management’s reasonable expectation on the
movement in foreign exchange rate on the Group's
loss after taxation and on equity as at 31 December
2021 and 2020:

Ao o U 5 R B

3 MBRBREE @
3.2 WA &)

322 5MERBE (&

TRINTEEENGERRY
- —ER-E-TE+A
=+—BAEEFREBIERE
TmASNEER RN R

Movement Movement

in foreign in foreign
currency 2021 currency 2020
Foreign currency risk SEERBR SNERE ZZT-F ShEE KB ZZEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT T
AUD BT +-5% 350 +-5% +-413
JPY H +-5% 59 +-5% +-67
NZD HAEET +-5% 1,284 +-5% +/-298
RMVB AR +-5% 525 +-5% +-562

3.3 Liquidity risk

The Group's operations are subject to various statutory
liquidity requirements as prescribed by the relevant
authorities. The Group has put in place a monitoring system
to ensure that it maintains adequate liquid capital to fund its
business commitments and to comply with the regulatory
requirements. The liquidity risk of the Group is managed
by regularly monitoring current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and current working capital to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
holds sufficient cash and deposits on demand to repay its
liabilities.

3.3 ARt mEER

AEBNEBTARARERENSE
EERBETEKRFR -AEEEE
YEERG BREF TSRS E
EREEENEZAERHEES K
BT EHER - FEEZBEREE
BRIREMASHESTEREEERD
MR BREAEEEFEHNRE
REABMEEES UnRHEERR
EHRRBETER - ZEEFERE
R REMEREERER-

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %~ —4FE#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBRMBEE #E)
3.3 Liquidity risk (continued) 3.3 B RAK &
3.3.1 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual BN EEHNEHAEZZ K EEE
maturities HE
The table below presents the cash flows payable by TRENAEERZZZ—FR
the Group under financial liabilities by remaining “E2ECEF+ZA=+—HB#EE&K
contractual maturities as at 31 December 2021 and TEHNIBEAREHEaEE T
2020. The amounts disclosed in the table are the EHRERE - ZRAPENE
contractual undiscounted cash flows. BAGHRMRBEERE
As at 31 December 2021 RZIEZ—H+ZH=+—8
Total Carrying
Up to 13 312 15 Over  contractual amount
1 month months months years 5years  cash flows liabilities
BHRER
—fEAR —-EZf8F ZZ+-f8R —Eif BRE aE AfREEE
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
TR TART TAR TR TART TAR TR
Liabilities &
Lease liabilities HEaR 326 652 2,818 6,678 - 10,474 9,639
Other payables HitENFE 7475 - - - - 7475 7475
Clients' balances RR&E 42,266 - - - - 42,266 42,266
50,067 652 2,818 6,678 = 60,215 59,380
Derivative financial instruments fTESMIR 458 - - - - 458 458
50,525 652 2,818 6,678 = 60,673 59,838
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Liquidity risk (continued)

3.3.1 Undiscounted cash flows by contractual

maturities (continued)

As at 31 December 2020

MBRRERE (@)

I}IL%EHB’ C'ﬁén)

Ao o U 5 R B

331 HEXFFHE F IR M TR

i E (E)

R-EB-_EE+"A=+—H

Total Carrying
Upto 13 3-12 15 Over contractual amount
1 month months months years 5 years cash flows liabilities
BERET
—fBAR —2=@A =E+_fA —E5f BRE fm  afEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEx THER TEx THL TER TEx
Liabilities af
Lease liabilities fEaE 1,026 2,052 6,469 1,362 - 10,909 10,699
Other payables HitENFE 12,332 - - - - 12,332 12,332
Clients’ balances ERi 68,918 - - = - 68918 68,918
82,276 2,052 6,469 1,362 - 92,159 91,949
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIE 1,915 = - = = 1915 1,915
84,191 2,052 6,469 1,362 = 94,074 93,864
CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % " —4F#f} o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
3.4.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table represents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at the
end of reporting period across the three levels of
the fair value hierarchy defined in HKFRS 7, Financial
Instruments: Disclosures, with the fair value of each
financial instrument categorised in its entirety based on
the lowest level of input that is significant to that fair
value measurement. The levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 (highest level): fair values measured using

quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets.

Level 2: fair values measured using quoted price in
active markets for similar financial instruments, or using
valuation technigues in which all significant inputs are
directly or indirectly based on observable market data.

Level 3 (lowest level): fair values measured using
valuation techniques in which any significant input is

not based on observable market data.

As at 31 December 2021

3 HB#HER

SEIE ()

34 TREEREBNARE
M1 BRAREFNENZHITR

TREINRBSHARREEY
BREZEFIRTEMIE K
BIMAENRAAEBEFTRHEERN
ZEFRPURAEFEN TR
TEMKEE SEEMIAN
ARERBESREENEEZR
REFFERNRBENERETH
B-ARHERERLT :

F1R (REFER FBEEE
THEPHHRE CREHER) StEQ
S8 °

E2MRk C AREFESRETERT
SRLUEMIAENRE KA
HMERTEE H28EE0N2
N ERNBERRNARED
585 -

E3M (REF#HR) - AnEEA
HERMAE FANEENSH
B RIRI IR R T 5 R o

R-E-_—%+"HF=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F14% F24R B3R 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TART AT AT
Assets BE
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIE - 4,579 - 4,579
Liabilities &
Derivative financial instruments TESMTR - 458 - 458
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BHEEKERE @)

34 TRMEEREBNARE B

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

MNBERIABHENNETHM T A

3.4.1 Financial instruments measured at fair value

As at 31 December 2020

ZB-EE+-A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
SR R $34R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TART TAET

Assets BE

Financial assets at fair value BAREFABRZ

through profit or loss EHEE 3,056 - - 3,056
Derivative financial instruments TEERIA = 5914 = 5914
3,056 5,914 - 8,970

Liabilities af
Derivative financial instruments TEEMIA = 1,915 = 1,915

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where
it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair
value an instrument are observable, the instrument is
included in level 2.

The fair value of derivative financial instruments in level
2 are measured by reference to counterparties’ quotes.

WIHRERTHEEEZEMT
B HARBERBGERMNE
EeRFMERMEIERITE
SHRHRMIGHE LRI
TERBRBFEMLE - HBA R
BtE-—EBIEMENEZHNER
IR RERS RIZEIAR
W AB24R

F2RITEEMIAZANER
BENFHZREE-
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

3.4.2 Financial assets and liabilities not measured

at fair value

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair
value of the Group's financial assets and
liabilities not measured at fair value are not
materially different from their carrying amounts
due to their short maturities.

Balances due from agents, other receivables and
deposits include the contractual amounts for
settlement of trades and other obligations due to the
Group.

Clients" balances represent the margin deposits
received from clients and the unrealised profit or
loss from their trading activities under normal course
of business. Their carrying values are a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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SEIE ()

34 TRMEEREBNARE B

342 WHBAAEEHNZHEER

=F/]

RIB_—ER-E_FF+Z
B=+—HB #HREEEILIFZ
AREFENEREERERN
IR RE WEARBEHEAR
HETESERER-

FE WAL IR AS B ~ H B RIE &
RE-BRENAEERRENR
ZHEHMAREMEE-

EREHRENREBEHBREPUY
NERFNREBETFRRNEET
BEEAFBRER M A -
SREEHEEARERESE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBRMBEE #E)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 ERMEEREBHNARAE &
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial M3 B THEERTHER
liabilities
(a) Financial assets (a) ZTHEE
The following financial assets are subject UMTEMEEZIEE T2
to offsetting, enforceable master netting HIMITH—FREE TR
arrangements and similar agreements. SRR
As at 31 December 2021 B2 —F+=-H=+—H
Related amounts
not set off in

the consolidated statement
of financial position

BRRGEMBERRR
RHRIBRIRE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised  of financial
financial assets
liabilities set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement  statement Cash
financial  of financial  of financial Financial collateral Net
assets position position  instruments received amount
RiEEME Ran%
kAR AT KRN
CHIER  BEDsE EL ) 2l
BELE BEEE SREETE EMIE  RERE e

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TER TER AR TER TER TER

Derivative financial instruments  $74£ 48T & 5,013 (434) 4,579 = = 4,579

Total st 5013 (434) 4,579 - - 4,579

7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKRERE @)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 TREERBENQAAE &
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial 3BT HEERETHER (B
liabilities (continued)
(a) Financial assets (continued) (a) Z=HEE (1)
As at 31 December 2020 W E2-_EF+_"_HA=+—H
Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position
WRPRGREH BRI
HRERTE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised of financial
financial assets
liabilities set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement Cash
financial of financial of finandial Financial collateral Net
assets position position instruments received amount
NG A%
R A KRN
S S F25H Elk
BERA BREE SREETER SRTER REERR bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TER TER TEr TEr TEr
Financial assets at fairvalue AR EFABRZ
through profit or loss TREE 3,056 - 3,056 - = 3,056
Derivative financial instruments 74 €8T & 13,008 (7,094) 5914 - - 5914
Total 3t 16,064 (7,094) 8,970 = = 8,970
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HBRMBEE #E)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 34 ERMEEREBHNARAE &
(continued)
34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial 3BT HEERETHER (B
liabilities (continued)
(b)  Financial liabilities b) Z=HEE
The following financial liabilities are subject UTEmaEzEHE o a
to offsetting, enforceable master netting HIMITH—FREE TR
arrangements and similar agreements. SRR
As at 31 December 2021 B2 —F+=-H=+—H
Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position
HRPMREHBER AR
HHMERRE
Gross

amounts of Net amounts
recognised  of financial

financial liabilities
assets set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement  statement Cash
financial  of financial  of financial Financial collateral Net
liabilities position position  instruments pledged amount

REGAHH GRMH
RRRAEH HRKA
IR  CEIeR Fr 2589 BiE#H
aiRBE HELE SRERIR EMIR REERE B8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAn TAn TAn TAn TAn TAn

Derivative financial instruments 74 £81 T & (892) 434 (458) - - (458)

Total st (892) 434 (458) - - (458)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

(continued)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MBRKRERE @)
3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities 3.4 *REEREBNARE @)
343 Offsetting financial assets and financial 3BT HEERETHER (B
liabilities (continued)
(b)  Financial liabilities (continued) (b) =HEE (&
As at 31 December 2020 N2 EF+"H=+—H
Related amounts
not set off in
the consolidated statement
of financial position
WRPRGREH BRI
HRERTE
Gross
amounts of Net amounts
recognised of financial
financial liabilities
assets set presented
Gross off in the in the
amounts of consolidated consolidated
recognised statement statement Cash
financial of financial of finandial Financial collateral Net
liabilities position position instruments pledged amount
NG A%
R A KRN
S S F25H [=EsE
LR BELE SREETER SRTER REERR bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEr TER TER TEr TEr TEr
Derivative financial instruments  $7 £ T & (9,009) 7,094 (1,915) = = (1,915)
Total it (9,009) 7,094 (1,915) - - (1,915)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.4 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
(continued)

34.3 Offsetting financial assets and financial
liabilities (continued)

(b)  Financial liabilities (continued)

For the financial assets and liabilities subject
to enforceable master netting arrangements or
similar arrangements above, each agreement
between the Group and the counterparty allows
for net settlement of the relevant financial assets
and liabilities when both elect to settle on a
net basis. In the absence of such an election,
financial assets and liabilities will be settled on a
gross basis, however, each party to the master
netting agreement or similar agreement will have
the option to settle all such amounts on a net
basis in the event of default of the other party. Per
the terms of each agreement, an event of default
includes failure by a party to make payment when
due; failure by a party to perform any obligation
required by the agreement (other than payment)
if such failure is not remedied within 30 days after
notice of such failure is given to the party; or
bankruptcy.

3.5 Financial instruments by category

All financial assets and financial liabilities (including cash
and bank balances, client trust bank balances, balances due
from agents, other receivables and deposits, clients’ balances
and other payables) and lease liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position are carried at amortised cost
using the effective interest method except for the derivative
financial instruments and the financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which are carried at fair value.

3

Ao o U 5 R B

MHHBREER (@)
34 TRMEEREBNARE &

M3 HHETHEERETHME R (H

(b) THER (&

R Lt 5 BT SR AT A — 0%
REHE R EULHRR
NEMEERERERMS > &
EERXSHFHRINSE
WMEREE L EERFEERE
EEE AP FRGEEER
THMEEREBR -ERANF
HZBEZENBER T THME
EREERGHBREREL
B -B-BEfR—FEBHEN
BOUHENER—HELN
FR—HEEREFRFER
BEGEMAERTRE IR
BEEBZNER BOF
B — 7 REEX T BRI
B ER—ARERTIHZ
FRREBEE ((FRERSN) -
Bz naWR B ENER
EB30KRHAMR AR BE FH
FERIEHE 5 A E

3.5 HEHASHERMIA

FREMBRREANZEREMEER
THEE (BRERERBITESH T
REFRTER BRAESESR H
W RERZE TR ERREM
BNRIE) UREEaEZ#BHMRE
ERMEZEAR LA REARK
WITEEMTARBARES ABT
ZEREERRS o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.6 Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital, which is
a broader concept than the “equity” on the consolidated

statement of financial position, are:

e To comply with the liquid capital requirements under
the Securities and Futures Commission in Hong Kong,
Australian Securities and Investments Commission
in Australia and the Securities Commission in New
Zealand for its subsidiaries which are licensed

corporations;

e To safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

e  To support the Group’s stability and growth; and

e To maintain a strong capital base to support the

development of its business.

The Group’s gearing ratio at the end of reporting period is

shown below:

3

MBREKRERE (&)
3.6 EXxERE

FERER BSBRESUHRRIE
WIEm BERER EENER R :

s MEBFEZIZBENWEBARMES
MEEBRFAMEEHEES
BE RNRNESEHREE
BZEgRTARNESFEZEEHN
MBEERE S

e MEXEBENFEEZEES X
ESRRREMA mAEREE R
HER R

s XKAKEENREREES K

s MEREMNEBELRER UXFH
EBERE-

FEBRRESPRVERLERLT

Total debt BT HRER
Total equity TR AR

Gearing ratio =K

2021 2020
—F-—-F —TFH
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT
9,639 10,699
268,757 333,056
3.6% 3.2%

Total debt includes lease liabilities.

All licensed corporations within the Group complied with
their required liquid capital during the years ended 31

December 2021 and 2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are

based on historical experience and other factors, including

expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable

under the circumstances.

4.1

4.2

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are fair
value of share options.

The Group determines the fair value of share options at the
date at which they are granted. The assumptions used in
computing the fair value of the share options are subject to
managements’ best estimation. Changes in assumptions
about these assumptions could affect reported fair value of
share options. Management use their judgments to make
assumptions that are mainly reference to the historical data
of comparable listed companies.

More details of the assumptions made are included in Note
26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s
accounting policies

Management of the Group has not made any significant
critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

4

Ao o U 5 R B

EEGHEF RAVER

4.1

4.2

iy 5t R FI B AS 5 G 5T (i > I AU AR
BEREMARAER SEERER
NN RERARREHNGERM

EEgHEF RER

A5 B g R R A (5T KRR o
WEEEZ S HHRARVEBERE
BRERBET LAt RRREEN T —
MHEFENBSERBRZREEFD
EARABEZERARSBRENAR
=

rEBETERENRHBHZAR
BE-stEBREZANEBMABZRR
AHEEEBFEREMGT AKER
REEZBRREFIETERMEZRZ
BREAEBE -BEEREERHY
TEBSEAELREHTRATDZESE
BEFEHER-

BRAFMEHBRZEZHBENGS
AR R M 5260

RSBz Gt BRF{FHZEE
F B

AEEEEBHAMNAEEMEARN
ZETERFHEAERHAIE -
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SEGMENT REPORTING

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the executive directors and senior
management of the Group. The Group's operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to the natures
of their operations and the services they provide. Each of the
Group’s business segments represents a strategic business unit
that offers services which are subject to risks and returns that are
different from those of the other business segments. The Board of
Directors considers the business from a geographical and product
perspective.

Summary details of the business segments from geographical and
product perspective are as follows:

(@ the margin dealing segments engage in the provision of
leveraged foreign exchange, commodity and index trading
services in Australia, Hong Kong and New Zealand; and

(b) the unleveraged cash dealing segment engages in the
provision of non-leveraged foreign exchange trading services
in New Zealand. Unleveraged cash dealing services were
provided to corporate clients, in particular, those clients
engaged in money changing business for the purpose
of hedging their cash positions and meeting settlement
obligations. The Group is rewarded by the spread between
the price quoted to our clients and the price offered by our
market makers. Since February 2020, the Group has not
rendered any cash dealing services to its customers.

Inter-segment transactions, if any, are conducted with reference
to the prices charged to third parties and there was no change in
the basis during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued) 5 9IRS (&)
The segment information provided to the management for the BE_ T _—FKR_ZBE_ZTF+_1
reportable segments for the years ended 31 December 2021 and =+—BHIFE BARESHIREERE
2020 is as follows: RENDEERUT :
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_E-_—F+-HA=1+—HIEFE
New Hong
Zealand Kong Australia
margin margin margin
dealing dealing dealing  Unallocated Total
HEE & bl
REERS REERS REERA KRR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TiEn TiEn T#r
Segment revenue and other income: DEBRE REMUA
Foreign exchange and other trading RENMPERHIER
income earned from external customers HizZHA (21) (72) 2,810 = 2,717
Inter-segment sales NEEEE - 260 (260) - -
Segment revenue ars e (1) 188 2,550 - 2,117
Fee and commission income ERRFEEEMA 59 - 4 - 63
Reversal of provision for expected credit loss REBBEERREE 259 29 7 95 390
Other income HitlA 1,266 (11) 573 3,182 5,010
Total revenue and other income g R E A 2% 1,563 206 3,134 3,277 8,180
Segment loss DEER (8,942) (14,888) (11,583) (22,499) (57,912)
Loss before tax AR (57,912)
Income tax credit FEiiiE % 1,370
Loss for the year FERR (56,542)
Other segment information: HtpHER
Depreciation e 77 619 1,939 9,000 11,635
Lease payments REH 314 - m )] 1,128
Finance cost RERA - - 95 193 288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

5 SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

5 EbERE (&)

HE-T-%

F+-RA=+—HL=EE

New Hong New
Zealand Kong Australia Zealand
margin margin margin cash
dealing dealing dealing dealing  Unallocated Total
mEs &H B HEE
FREERS REERS FEERS BeR5 E Sl st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER FET FER TER
Segment revenue and other income: AEE REMIA
Foreign exchange and other trading REINEDE R HIMER
income earned from external customers HtRZHMA 7,371 (603) (2,936) 785 - 4617
Segment revenue AR 7371 (603) (2,936) 785 = 4617
Fee and commission income ERREEBA 91 - - - = 91
Reversal of provision for expected credit loss ~ EEELEEEERE - - - - 490 490
Other income HetA 343 457 2,089 - 3,774 6,663
Total revenue and other income W R EMKA L 7,805 (146) (847) 785 4,264 11,861
Segment profit/(loss) PEER,/ (B8 (14,389) (19,589) (16,718) 785 4,264 (45,647)
Unallocated staff costs FPEMETRA (2,195) (2,195)
Unallocated other operating expenses RORAMSEREY (33,316) (33,316)
Loss before tax FiRAIESE (81,158)
Income tax credit FisiiE R 9,522
Loss for the year FEHE (71,636)
Other segment information: Rt HER
Depreciation & 142 844 2,282 - 11,575 14,843
Lease payments LECNE - - - - 1,408 1,408
Finance cost REMA 1 353 239 - - 593
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

SEGMENT REPORTING (continued)

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s major
income from external customers is derived from its operations in
Australia and New Zealand.

5

DEERE (&)

ARBEREE - AEBEXRBIIBELH
FTEBRARBRBRNRTOENEE X

75 o

2021 2020

—E—F —E TR

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET TET

Australia M 2,810 (2,936)
New Zealand FPERE 21) 8,156
Others Hith (72) (603)
2,717 4,617

The locations of its non-current assets (excluding deferred tax

HIFRBEE (FEREERNBEE) D

assets) are as follows: mE
2021 2020
—E-—F "S- EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Hong Kong 58 10,314 10,318
Australia TN 1,465 3,341
New Zealand AR 72 179
Mainland China A B Py 3t - 15
11,851 13,853

None of the external customers contributes more than a majority
of the Group's trading income individually in the respective years.

Information on segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed
as this information is not presented to the Board of Directors as
they do not assess performance of reportable segments using
information on assets and liabilities.

BENIZEFERBERFELAERZIZ N

ARBERE D

HREFETECRAARNEERERENSE
B E R RSN MHRIR  WABHEE
ERBENENTEZRTEES  EM

WERBERRER -

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HKkA
2021 2020
—E—F TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEx
Interest income A E WA 99 1,034
Management fee income BEEWA 2,700 2,538
Reversal of provision for audit fee BblIE EREE - 946
Government subsidies (note) BAT A5 EG (B EE) 264 1,833
Net gain from financial assets BARBET ABTm 2B/

at fair value through profit or loss BEZIWNG R 159 61
Overprovision of penalty (Note 32) SR EBREE B (WaE32) 1,266 -
Others Hh 522 251
5,010 6,663

note: et -

Included in profit or loss is HK$264,000 (2020: HK$1,833,000) of
government subsidies obtained from JobKeeper Scheme (the “Scheme”)
launched by the Australia Government to support the payroll of the
Group's employees. Under the Scheme, the Group had to commit to
spend these grants on payroll expenses for a specified period of time. The

18 25 AP B E 2k B VBN BURT #E HH B9 JobKeeperst Bl
(TzzstEl)) B RE264,0008 7T (ZE 2
£F 1,833,000 7T) > UZIFAERBENF & -
RiEZst 8 AEBMNBEAENISTHR A Z
EHSHANFEMS  AERETEA LT 248

Group does not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to this program. RANEMEKEITEE
7 STAFF COSTS 7 BIREK
2021 2020
—E—F TERTERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TFET
Staff costs (including directors’ BTmMA (BEEEHE
remuneration (Note 28)): (H1:£28)) -

Salaries, bonus and allowances T & TEALRoER 23,726 17,927
Pension scheme contributions BRIREETBIMERR 979 653
Staff option expenses (Note 26) ETHERERS Wat2e) - 31
24,705 18,611
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

8 HMEERX

2021 2020
T “ETERF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other office occupation expenses HthEFEHARS 1,920 2,643
Auditors’ remuneration 1% BB BN <&
— Audit services —EIZARTS 2,840 2,799
— Non-audit services —IEB LIRS 278 747
Information services expenses BHRBEMAS 1,085 3,459
Professional and consultancy fee BEREHE 11,835 19,908
Repair and maintenance (including system 41 R4 (15 R AT ML)
maintenance) 6,435 7,183
Marketing, advertising and promotion MSEE -EEREERS
expenses 316 35
Travelling expenses EIRE 229 463
Entertainment expenses R FERN & 89 56
Insurance b 2,698 1,824
Bank charges R1TER 108 262
Staff training BT 58 63
Impairment of property, plant and ME--BERZEZRE HaE12)
equipment (Note 12) - 5
Impairment of intangible assets (Note 713)  EFEEZBE (#fa%13) = 2
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss R (Wm) EiE35E (3,586) 9,630
Lease payments under land and building THIRIEF ZHENR 1,128 1,408
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BERREZ
plant and equipment &518 698 2
Others HAth 2,223 6,435
28,354 56,924

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

9 INCOME TAX CREDIT

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit during the
years. Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the
estimated assessable profit during the years at the rates of
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.
The income tax expenses of the Group are charged at a tax rate
of 28% (2020: 28%) in New Zealand, 30% (2020: 30%) in
Australia and 25% (2020: 25%) in Mainland China in accordance
with the local tax authorities.

FRISIRIE %

EBNERIDIBLEANN G HERREF LU
16.5% (CE-ZFF 1 16.5%) R =E:H1E
B o BINEN MM IBE X E NG ESR
MEMNUEERSEFRERRBITHME
STE o REESHMNBILRE  KEBRHA
B~ BN B R B N Y PR S AR B 2 0 Bl 3%
28% (CEB-_BHE :28%) “30% (ZEZ
TAE D 30%) F25% (ZE-Z4F : 25%)
MIREKTE o

2021 2020
—E-— TETERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Current tax: BIHAFRIA :
New Zealand Income Tax HFAREPTEHR
Tax concession (note) MsEBE (Wat) - (7,627)
Deferred tax: RIEFR IS
Credit for the year (Note 21) FEWIRR Hz221) (1,370) (1,895)
Income tax credit TSIk % (1,370) (9,522)
2021 2020
—E-—F TETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
Loss before income tax FRFTSIATESE (57,912) (81,158)
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory tax rate BEBEAERERABENRIE (9,555) (13,391)
Effect of different taxation rates in other HUMERARRENE
countries (186) 322
Income not subject to tax mIBRIRUA (507) (769)
Expenses not deductible for tax ENEIRE 520 3,987
Temporary differences not recognised R R ERE 9,728 7,956
Tax concession (note) MISEBE (W) - (7,627)
Income tax credit FTiSRig % - (9,522)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

note:

Effective from 15 April 2020, a temporary tax loss carry-back measure
that would allow a business that is or anticipate being in loss either the
2019-20 or 2020-21 tax year, to carry-back some or all of that loss to
the immediately preceding income year, such measure forms part of the
New Zealand Government's response to the impacts of the COVID-19
outbreak. A subsidiary of the Company had incurred tax loss for the year
ended 31 December 2019, which tax loss is eligible to carry-back and thus
obtained tax refund from the Inland Revenue of New Zealand.

DIVIDENDS

The Board of Directors does not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted losses per share
attributable to the equity holders of the Company is based on the
following data:

10

11

Ao o U 5 R B

FRiISHIER (&)
wrat :

—I5ER B BT 5 E5 4872 AU 40 Bl(carry-back)iE i B
“ECTFNA+ABHRBEN ZBHEAF _E
—NEZETHZEE"-FNFERTH
AT RSERENEE  BZBENE DSR2 B
A1 EREZ A — AW A FEFDR B A
ARBNEHNAEERESRELEZ R oK
AR Z—ENBRENBE_Z—NFE+_A8
= +—HLEFESRF/NBER MZIRFHEER
SRR E G RILESHARRTEZER
o

iz 2

EFEFEBRNEBE_ZS -5+
A=+—HBLEFENFEARE CT=F
FLE-

BiREE

EABREFEABLESREELREEEH
BB NIBESE

2021 2020
B —-F TEITE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Loss attributable to equity holders KA BIEHERA AR
of the Company (56,542) (71,636)
CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %~ —4FE#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

11 LOSS PER SHARE (continued) 11 SkEEE @)
No. of shares No. of shares
RS EE e EeE]
Weighted average number of ordinary BE TS BRNINETEH
shares in issue 2,033,290,000 2,033,290,000
Basic and diluted losses per share (HK cents) %P8 E 7 K i## #5148 GBL) (2.78) (3.52)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, basic loss per BHE_ T —FREBTEFF_RB=+—
share is the same as diluted loss per share. HIEFE  SREAGIERSRESEIENE
o
No share option was granted during the years ended 31 HEZ T —GFRZEIZEFF/H=1+—
December 2021 and 2020. The Company’s outstanding share HIEFERRERBRERRE AATE
options have no dilution effect for the years ended 31 December ETETGFRIEZEFEFA+TH=+—H
2021 and 2020 because the exercise price of the Company’s IEFEEZ BARTEBRED BEENE R
share options were higher than the average market price of the REEXABIERENITHEESNKRNZE
share for the years. EMFEEmEe
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

AND EQUIPMENT

12 ME - -BERRE

Furniture,
fixtures and Computer Leasehold Motor
equipment equipment improvements vehicles Total
BB &
Bk BliRfk fHE%E fat: ®it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn Thn TEn TEn TEn
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HEZE_EET_RA=1-HLEE
Opening net camying amount FREFE 360 3215 1,389 936 5,900
Exchange adjustments ERAE 9 2) 3 - 30
Additions HE 52 538 38 - 628
Disposals HE 2 = = = 2)
Depreciation hE (191) (1,581) (947) (401) (3,120)
Impairment (Aote 8) AfE (8) = (5) = = ()
Closing net carrying amount FRRATE 28 2,165 503 535 3431
As at 31 December 2020 RZE_2F+"A=1-H
Cost Al 8799 19,981 14,402 3,599 46,781
Accumulated depreciation REHTERAE
and impairment (8,571) (17,816) (13,899) (3,064) (43,350)
Net carrying amount RESE 28 2,165 503 535 3431
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_Z_—F+_A=t-HLEE
Opening net camying amount EREFE 228 2,165 503 535 3,431
Exchange adjustments ERHEZ (6) (6) (1) = (23)
Additions HE 256 223 381 - 860
Disposals HE (43) (655) - - (698)
Depreciation hE (129) (837) (547) (401) (1,914
Closing net carrying amount FREMTE 306 890 326 134 1,656
As at 31 December 2021 RZF—£+"RA=t-H
Cost R 3,090 3,924 6,582 2,005 15,601
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  EsHTERA(E (2,784) (3,034) (6,256) (1.871) (13,945)
Net carrying amount REFE 306 890 326 134 1,656

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 13 BREE
Computer Trading
software right Total
BEREm G R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAT TAT
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE_E-_TEHE+"_B=+—HIEFE
Opening net carrying amount FHRERE 2 = 2
Impairment (Note 8) BB (H1328) 2) = @)
Closing net carrying amount FRE@FE - = =
As at 31 December 2020 RZ2Z2F+ZA=+—H
Cost B 82,703 1,782 84,485
Accumulated amortisation and R RORE
impairment (82,703) (1,782) (84,485)
Net carrying amount REFME = = =
For the year ended 31 December 2021  #HE_E_—&H+"F=+—HILEE
Opening net carrying amount FHRERE - = =
Written off (note) Was (172 = = =
Closing net carrying amount FRE@EFE - - -
As at 31 December 2021 RIB2Z—4F+ZB=+—H
Cost B 1,384 - 1,384
Accumulated amortisation and R RRE
impairment (1,384) - (1,384)
Net carrying amount RERE - - -
note: st -

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had written off
computer software and trading right with cost amounts of approximately
HK$78,955,000 and HK$1,836,000, respectively. The accumulated
amortisation and impairment of these assets with same amounts of the

cost had been written off accordingly.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

(i) Amount recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

(ii)

Ao o U 5 R B

14 ERAEEE

() REEEMBRRAREDZEE

2021 2020
—E-F “EIEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEx

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Buildings EES 9,494 10,422

Lease liabilities HEaR

Current nE) 3,399 9,365
Non-current FETRE 6,240 1,334
9,639 10,699

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the 2021
financial year were HK$8,891,000 (2020: Nil).

Amount recognised in the Consolidated

Statement of Comprehensive Income

RS- —FEFHREEENZFRA®E
B E 248,891,000 (CE - F !

) o

(i) REEEEBERETZEHE

2021 2020
g —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ERT FAET
Depreciation charge of FREEEZITEER
right-of-use assets
Buildings BF 9,721 11,723
Interest expense (included in MEMZ GrAREMZ)
finance cost) 288 584
Expense relating to short-term AR SRS GEARM
leases (included in other KERY)
operating expenses) 1,128 1,408

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

(if) Amount recognised in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income (continued)

Total cash outflows for leases are as below:

14 EREEE B@)
(i) REE2EBERETZEHE (@)

HENREROBEDT

2021 2020

—E—F TERIREF

HK$000 HK$000

THET FAET

Within operating cash flows REEIREREN 1,128 1,408
Within financing cash flows ARMEBERSREN 10,143 12,337
11,271 13,745

(iii) The Group’s leasing activities and how these are

accounted for

The Group leases various offices. Rental contracts are
typically made for fixed periods of 2 to 4 years (2020: 2 to 3

years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and

contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for

borrowing purposes.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

15 OTHER RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS AND 15 HEWEIE A RIERRE
DEPOSITS
2021 2020
B TETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Rental and utility deposits MERARRMEZE 3,869 3,392
Prepayments TE I 3,191 4,225
Other receivables HEWERIE 168 1,018
Provision for expected credit loss TEHRE E R REE - 4)
Total wast 7,228 8,631
Less: non-current portion B IERENEE D (701) =
Current portion MBI 6,527 8,631
The carrying amounts of the Group's other receivables and AEBHMERRIERZENIREERE
deposits approximate to their fair values. NABEES
16 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 16 BAREHABEHZZEMEE
PROFIT OR LOSS
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Listed equity s - 3,056
Total “ast - 3,056
At the end of the reporting period, financial assets at fair value RBERR > RANBEHABRZETHME
through profit or loss are stated at fair value. ERADEIIERC
The fair values of listed equity are determined based on the REERR LR Z ARETHZEE
quoted market closing prices available on the relevant stock RIS R EEE

exchange at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

17 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

17 TEE£RTH

2021 2020
B TR
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current assets RBEE
Derivative contracts TTEEH 4,579 5,914
Current liabilities REBA&E
Derivative contracts TEEH (458) (1,915)
Total 4Bt 4,121 3,999

The Group gains exposures in foreign exchange, commodities and
other products from client orders in its margin dealing business. In
order to hedge these exposures, the Group enters into a number
of derivative contracts with its hedging counterparties in the
normal course of business.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding derivative
contracts at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are HK$311,937,000
and HK$362,106,000 respectively.

The derivative contracts usually have no expiry dates. The size
of the derivative contracts is adjusted according to overall client
activities.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

FEERHREERZEFHAZRER
PEIENIIE-BoREMERRR 2
HHhZERAE ~EBREBEBBRER
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁiﬂiﬁﬁmim”

RN _E - —FR_EEF+_H=+—
H ERFREMESGHNAELRETED R
311,937,000 75 5362,106,0008 7T °

MEENBERTERMBB -TTESON
REGRBEEREEREZHETAE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

18 BALANCES DUE FROM AGENTS

18 FEURMCIR4EER

2021 2020

—EZ—%F e

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Balances due from agents FEW IR R 34,154 48,104
Provision for expected credit loss TERRE B R EE (191) (277)
Total 4mst 33,963 47,827

The balances represent margin deposits paid to hedging
counterparties and the realised profit or loss from our trading
activities under normal course of business. The majority of the
balances due from agents are repayable on demand except
for certain balance represent margin deposit required for our
outstanding derivative contracts with the hedging counterparties.
There is no interest bearing for the balances. The carrying
amounts of the Group’s balances due from agents approximate

ZEEHEREEEBBRRETRAEPHETF
XANFRBEERREMAECTEE TN
BE RGN HEE - KB B EE R
ARBERESE HHEEIHFZRFTEN
EEHFRENREETERNE TERE
Sho LA RERE - AERBMBUARIEL
BRHNREEEZERARERE

to their fair values.

19 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST

BANK BALANCES

19 RERIRITEFUARE FEERITHER

2021 2020

B TR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Cash and bank balances R RIRITAEER 195,487 287,093
Fixed deposits with banks IRTTEHIFEA 38,980 =
Client trust bank balances B PR E:LIR1T4EER 39,225 63,517
Provision for expected credit loss TEHE E R 1REE - (314)
273,692 350,296

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

19 CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND CLIENT TRUST 19 RERIBITHEGURT R SEIRITER

BANK BALANCES (continued)

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprises of the following:

(%)

MEGERERERMS REARRESE
MEEUTEE

2021 2020

—EZ—fF —EIEHF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT FHET

Cash and bank balances B RIRTTEEER 195,487 287,093
Fixed deposits with bank with original [REIR =188 W EIERK

maturity within three months RITEMFMR 38,980 =

234,467 287,093
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

20 LEASE LIABILITIES
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)

The Group leases a number of offices mainly in Hong Kong and
Australia. Under the office leases, the periodic rents are fixed over
the lease term. The values in the table below reflect the current
proportions of lease payments that are fixed.

20 1HE&E

MR Z ERTLLA -

Lease contracts

HEFSHME URBAZD)

FEBFTEREFARBEMNEEZEABRA
E-REBWAZEHE THESNEEH
ABBEEREEZ TRZEBERBEEERE

Fixed payments

31 December 2021 Number per month
—E—%+=-H=+—H HESHHE SREBEEMR
HK$'000
FET
Office leases with fixed payments
BEENRZMAZERE 2 326
The movements in lease liabilities: HESBZET
HK$'000
TFET
Balance as at 1 January 2020 R TETERF—H—HZER 22,249
Interest expense BB 584
Lease payments HEI (12,337)
Exchange adjustment b 2 %R 203
Balance as at 31 December 2020 and RIEZEF+Z/A=1+—HK
1 January 2021 =it ey S R S e 10,699
Additions AE 8,891
Interest expense MEMXZ 288
Lease payments GEN=ENEN (10,143)
Exchange adjustment PE SR SR EE (96)
Balance as at 31 December 2021 AR —F+ "B =+—HZ4e 9,639

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %~ —4FE#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

20 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

20 FHE&SE @)
REMENMHHERBEROT

Future lease Present
payments Interest value
RIRFAE TR FE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAET TFAET
As at 31 December 2021 RW-_TE-_—F+"H=+—H
Not later than one year —FR 3,796 (397) 3,399
Later than one year and not ~—FE&BMERN
later than two years 2,504 (261) 2,243
Later than two years and not MEBEBRER
later than five years 4,174 (177) 3,997
10,474 (835) 9,639
As at 31 December 2020 R_ZE_TF+_HA=+—H
Not later than one year —FRN 9,547 (182) 9,365
Later than one year and not —E®BEBMER
later than two years 1,362 (28) 1,334
10,909 (210) 10,699
The present value of future lease payments are analysed as: REBEMNRZIREDTUT -
2021 2020
—EZ—%F —ETEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FEIT
Current liabilities mENaE 3,399 9,365
Non-current liabilities JEREIEE 6,240 1,334
9,639 10,699
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

21 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset on an individual entity
basis when there is a legal right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxation
relates to the same authority. The following amounts, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction, are as follows:

21

BIETRIE

ERZERMEIR AR IAE ZEHEAH
MIBERIRE > MELERED KE— %S
B> BIRTREREARBRIERBEEERS
BRHE -RERRBREAEERANEER

(I #2 5t RS A B%) |HIU0 T ¢

2021 2020
B T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Deferred tax assets to be recovered EIERRIEE E (1218 B & U @)
after twelve months - 855
Deferred tax liabilities to be settled IEERIEEE (12188 B 219)
after twelve months - (2,243)
- (1,388)

The major components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recorded

BMBRARANIRNIELEREEE

in the consolidated statement of financial position and the ( J%E) NEEHD RERESHUWT !
movements during the year are as follows:
Other
Employee temporary
benefits Depreciation differences Total
HithE it
EBE®=H nE =8 Bzt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAET TET THET
At 1 January 2020 A ZEZF—F—H 749 (3,877) (63) (3,191)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss A/ (0BRB) & (59) 1,778 176 1,895
Exchange adjustments B R 41 (144) 11 (92)
At 31 December 2020 R_F_BF+_A=1—H 731 (2,243) 124 (1,388)
At 1 January 2021 RZZ2Z—F—F—H 731 (2,243) 124 (1,388)
Credit/(charge) to profit or loss A/ (0ERE) BE (721) 2,213 (122) 1,370
Exchange adjustments FEREEE (10) 30 (2) 18
At 31 December 2021 R_2_—&+"A=+—H - - - =

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

21 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

22

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has estimated unused
tax losses of approximately HK$166,816,000 (2020:
HK$114,415,000) which were available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated tax losses due to the unpredictability of future

profit streams. All amount of estimated tax losses have no expiry

date.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES

21

BIETRIA ()

A _E_—F+_B=+—H AEEA

HERA LIRS R A M Gt R EBARIE
E184973166,816,0008 T (CBE -4 :
114,415,000 7T o A 2R 2K s #l m B9 R
B FERIME > AN & B R A AR TE RS 1R
RIRIERIBEE -PRAEMEIRIEBIEESE
HEEmEE-

22 HthfEIRIBEREAR

2021 2020
B —-F TERITE
notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Mzt FHET FET
Other accruals HithEst &R 4,482 3,831
Accrued audit fees FEST B E R 2,422 1,776
Employee entitlements BE#E 2,021 1,273
Other payables HENRIE (b) 345 6,441
Commission payable FE(I A& 226 284
() 9,496 13,605

notes: Kzt -

(a)

The carrying amounts of the Group's other payables and accrued
liabilities approximate to their fair values.

In 2020, other payables included approximately HK$5.6 million of
provision for penalty imposed by Financial Markets Authority due to
breach of the Anti-Money Laundering and Countering Financing of
Terrorism Act 2009 (the “AML/CFT Act”) in New Zealand.

In 2021, a pecuniary penalty of New Zealand Dollar (“NZD")
770,000 had been imposed and settled. Details are set out in
Note 32 of the consolidated financial statements. Over provision
for penalty of NZD230,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,266,000) had been reversed and recognised as “other
income” in Note 6 of the consolidated financial statements.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

(a) HEBRHMENREKRESSENREESR
HAREREE-

b)) MIEBE-ZF HtWENREGSERNHA
BER (2004 REBRBBDFELEE
&) (TAMUCFTAD) T & R T 35 B 12 B e A0
R 2 B 5 495,600,000 7T ©

R —F AEB R KA E770,000H
FEE T (TGRPaRTT)) BISIRR o SE B EA R 47
BMBRERWEI2 - AEE B R EIBEERE
B9 £170230,000%7 76 # 7t (FHEH2#91,266,000
BT WRkR A M SRR M stom R A TH M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CLIENTS’ BALANCES

23

The balances represent margin deposits received from clients

and the realised profit or loss from their trading activities under

normal course of business. The majority of the clients’ balances

are repayable on demand except for certain balance represent

margin deposit required for the outstanding derivative contracts.

There is no interest bearing for the balances. The carrying

amounts approximate to their fair values.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a) Share capital

24

31 December 2021

Ao o U 5 R B

P&

ZERHFIEN EBEZGTBETWRRERLH
REZTFARREETEETHNCER
A ER e AMAERGEHRARENRE
POERTENTEGOMEENRESZF
MHE THERMRIN - ERAL AR - BRE
BERERARERE

o

i

B

E*r*

% 25 Rz f
(a) Rg#s
31 December 2020

“E--F+ZA=+—-H ZEEE+R=+—H
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
RHEE FTET REE FET
Authorised: AT
Ordinary shares of SREEETZ
HK$0.01 each ZRER 4,000,000,000 40,000 4,000,000,000 40,000
Issued and fully paid: BETREE
At beginning and end of RREHNEK
the reporting period 2,033,290,000 20,333 2,033,290,000 20,333
(b) Reserves (b) #fE

Reserves includes capital reserves which represents the

difference between the book value of the net assets of
CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited, CLSA Premium
Pty Limited and CLSA Premium International (HK) Limited
over the par value of the shares issued by LXL Capital Il
Limited, LXL Capital Ill Limited and LXL Capital IV Limited in
exchange for these subsidiaries as part of the reorganisation

completed in 2012.

EE B IEE A E  F5CLSA Premium
New Zealand Limited ~ CLSA Premium Pty
Limited52CLSA Premium International
(HK) Limited® &3 BRI IR H B A
LXL Capital Il Limited~LXL Capital Il
Limited5&zLXL Capital IV LimitedfE % 7%
“E - FRANEA—BO AU
MZENBLABIMBTHNROEEN
o

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %~ —4FE#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

25 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 25 MEERFFIEEEEZHER

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The changes in the Group's liabilities from financing activities,

including both cash and non-cash changes are as follows:

rEBERETHEENEY (BERER
IRIR ) HHWMT :

Lease
liabilities
HEAaRE
HK$'000
FHET
As at 1 January 2021 RZZ2Z—%—H—H 10,699
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSREEE
Lease payments HEN® (9,855)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEaBZENFE (288)
Total changes from financing cash flows RMERERESHETHE (10,143)
Exchange adjustments ERBE (96)
Other changes: Hith& s :
Additions to lease liability REHEAR 8,891
Finance costs G %N 288
Total other changes Hth&Eh4a %8 9,179
As at 31 December 2021 R-E2_—F+"A=+—H 9,639

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

25 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 25 MERHFIELEAGEZHIR @)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES (continued)

Lease

liabilities

HEAE

HK$'000

FHET

As at 1 January 2020 WZE-_ZEF—H—H 22,249
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELE :

Lease payments HENR (11,753)

Interest paid on lease liabilities HEaBZBENFE (584)

Total changes from financing cash flows MERERESLHLH (12,337)

Exchange adjustments BE R 203

Other changes: H g :

Finance costs BB A 584

Total other changes HthESh48%E 584

As at 31 December 2020 RZE_EF+”°"H=+—H 10,699

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED
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26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 22 March 2018, the Company granted 40,000,000 share
options to 82 individuals (the “2018 Grantees”) for their
subscription of new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the
Company'’s share capital.

These share options are exercisable at HK$0.495 per share,
with varying vesting period and validity from the date of grant.
37 out of 82 of the 2018 Grantees were granted share options
which are exercisable for a period of three years commencing
on the date of grant to 21 March 2021. 11 out of 82 of the 2018
Grantees were granted share options which are exercisable for a
period of three years commencing on the date falling on the first
anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022, with a vesting
period of one year from the date of grant. The remaining 34 of
the 2018 Grantees were granted options which are exercisable
for a period of two years commencing on the date falling on the
second anniversary of the date of grant to 21 March 2022, with
a vesting period of two years from the date of grant. Among the
40,000,000 share options granted, 12,200,000 share options
were granted to the Company's directors and chief executives.

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the options in cash.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

26 FBRIGHESTE|

RZE—N\E=B_-+_"H ' &~ AT MAS2
Nt (&T2018%# A ) 2 H40,000,000
HERE HEEIBERARREAPTER
E{E0.01 BT @R -

ZEBRETEESRK7H0.4958 T E
BEUTE BREBHESNEBHE R
BMHEAB R - 8242018 R AH W37
LERTFIRBLHBESEZZ - —F
=BT+ —HALE=FZHERTEZE
B #E 0 528242018 ERW AR I L ER T
AIRETYHE—BFEREsEZS
F=BZ+—HALE=FZHBEATEZ
ERE BEPAHBBHBERES —Fo
BR N Z34%2018 R AER FOUNESY
HifmMEFEFEHRESAEZEZZE - —_F=8
T+t HALMEZHBRITEZER
EoEEAAHKEHBESME B
HA940,000,0000 BB R > KRB E SR
REEITHAEERE12,200,00013 E K
T o

AEBRTEIEAEESEURSELER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Movements in the number of outstanding share options during

the year ended 31 December 2021 were as follows:

26 fERRESHE (@)

HE-Z-—&+-F=+—HIEEEH
ROTENBRENE LSBT :

Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited Exercised as at
1 January during during during 31 December  Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2021 theyear  theyear  the year 2021 price Exercise period
RIEZ—%F AZEZ-&
—BA-A RER RER KER +ZA=+-A
EEA RiHBEH iHRITRE it #ig {5y W RITE fIfEE (THEHR
HKS
BT
Stephen Gregory McCoy 22 March 2018 1,000,000 - (1,000,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to
21 March 2021
“B)\E “E-\E=A-+ZHE
=BA-+ZH “E_—#=F"1+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 8,500,000 - (8,500,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to
companies 21 March 2021
£BRFAES “B)\F “E—\f=F"+_HE
=A-+ZH “E_—%#=F°+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,600,000 - - - 1,600,000 0.495 22 March 2019 to
companies 21 March 2022
£BRFESR “B)N\F ZE-NF=BZ+ZHE
=BZ+ZH R TF=RT+—H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,150,000 - (50,000) - 1,100,000 0.495 22 March 2020 to
companies 21 March 2022
£BRFAES “B)\F “EZFZB°+HE
=B-+ZH B _#=B”1+—H
Consultants 22 March 2018 550,000 - - - 550,000 0.495 22 March 2019 to
21 March 2022
e 2-N\F “E-hNE=A"+ZHE
=BZ+ZH R TF=RT+—H
12,800,000 - (9,550,000) = 3,250,000

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 26 FERESE ()
Movements in the number of outstanding share options during BHE_Z_ZF+_BA=+t—HLFEH
the year ended 31 December 2020 were as follows: RTENEREHEESNT !
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Forfeited Exercised as at
1 January during during during 31 December  Exercise
Grantee Date of grant 2020 theyear theyear the year 2020 price Exercise period
RZB-%E RZB-ZE
—B-A RER RER “ER  +ZB=+-H
ERA BB HARITE i Rl () :d W RITHE fIfEE 1TREHE
HKS
BT
Liu Stefan 22 March 2018 10,000,000 - (10,000,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
& 2-N\F “E-\E=AZ+ZHE
=A-+ZH “E_—f£=F"1+-H
Huang Songyuan 22 March 2018 3,800,000 - (3,800,000 - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
HIER “2-\F - \§=A_+ZHE
=AZ+ZH “E_—%#=F°+-H
Wong Yiu Kit Ernest 22 March 2018 1,550,000 - (1,550,000 - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
HR “B-N\E “Z—\E=AZ+ZHE
=AZ+ZH “E_—#=F"+-H
Stephen Gregory McCoy 22 March 2018 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
“B)\F “E-\E=AZ"+ZHE
=A-+ZH “E_—f£=F"1+-H
Zhao Guixin 22 March 2018 400,000 - (400,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
HER “2-\F - \§=A_+ZHE
=AZ+ZH “E_—%#=F°+-H
Corenlis Jacobus Keyser 22 March 2018 400,000 - (400,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
“B-N\E “Z—\E=AZ+ZHE
=AZ+ZH “E_—#=F"+-H
Lin Wenhui 22 March 2018 400,000 - (400,000) - - 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
X8 2-N\F “E-\E=AZ"+ZHE
=A-+ZH “E_—f£=F"1+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 11,500,000 - (3,000,000 - 8,500,000 0.495 22 March 2018 to 21 March 2021
companies
£BRFES “B)\F ZE—\§$=FZ+ZHZE
=BA-+ZH “E_—#=F"1+-H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 1,650,000 - (50,000) - 1,600,000 0.495 22 March 2019 to 21 March 2022
companies
NG “E)\E “E-NF=B"+_HE
ZAZ+ZH “E_"F=HR"+—H
Employees of Group 22 March 2018 2,250,000 - (1,100,000) - 1,150,000 0.495 22 March 2020 to 21 March 2022
companies
£ERFES “E)\F “RCZE=B°+HE
=)=t el = St -y = By Sl =|
Consultants 22 March 2018 550,000 - - - 550,000 0.495 22 March 2019 to 21 March 2022
B 2-N\F “Z-hE=A"+ZHE
=ZB-+=H kSt -y = oy el =
33,500,000 - (20,700,000) = 12,800,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The Binomial Option Pricing Model has been used to estimate
the fair value of the options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on
the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies with
different variables of certain subjective assumptions. Details of the
share options granted on 22 March 2018 were as follows:

Weighted average share option

price at the grant date: HK$0.1735
Risk free interest rate: 1.668%
Expected volatility: 56.39%

Expected dividend yield: 0%
Expected exercise multiple: Directors: 2.8x exercise price

Others: 2.2x exercise price

The measurement date of the share options was 22 March
2018, being the date of grant of the share options. The expected
dividend vyield is determined with reference to historical dividend
payment history of comparable listed companies up to the
measurement date. The expected volatility of share price is
determined with reference to annualised historical weekly volatility
of comparable listed companies’ share prices as of the valuation
date, as extracted from Bloomberg.

No share option expenses were recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income during the current period
(2020: HK$31,000).

All outstanding share options as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
are vested and exercisable.

Ao o U 5 R B

26 HBRREE (&)

“EAEEEENERMLUG S ERE
NARE -StEBERERAGHRANEH
RBRDBDERESNREMGS -BREE
EREFETBRRIOEHBTEMEC R
“E-N\F=ZRATARENEREN
FHBEWME

PO BRI A 19

FERCE(ER 0.17358 7T
mEEA = 1.668%
TERRR IS 56.39%
TERARR B = . 0%
TERRTT B (B8 - EE | THEBE2.85

Hth : 17EE2.215

BRENSAEEHHRAS-ZT-—NE=ZA
“HTERREERENBH RHEK
BXRNL2EAELER LT ATEEFER
AR B IR BT ARECE M E - IRBRY TR
HER2EZRRETBNIELERLETA
ANRESEFEARNEECBEETEE
IR E °

EEE RS2 E WG R EREDEE
fE RS (ZE T E . 31,0008 7T) °

B R T MR M B 5 B R AT 717
fiEo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

27 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Statement of Financial Position of the Company

FABZMBRAR

27 FABZMBRARKFEEES

As at 31 December

w+=-A=+—H
2021 2020
—E-—F —E T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
ASSET BE
Non-current asset EREMEBE
Investment in subsidiaries (Note 29) KRB RAB Z%E (H157£29) 151,853 177,553
Right-of-use assets ERREE 8,324 =
Deposit b 701 =
Total non-current asset ERBEEEE 160,878 177,553
Current assets REBEE
Cash and bank balances IRE MIR1T4EER 77,471 94,979
Amounts due from subsidiaries U B ARz I8 43,217 44,363
Prepayments TR 1,655 =
Total current assets MENEEMEE 122,343 139,342
Total assets BEEME 283,221 316,895
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES EmkERE
Share capital %N 20,333 20,333
Reserves (note (a)) & (Wat@) 181,052 182,511
Retained earnings (note (a)) BERA (WatE) 66,743 107,383
Total equity 4t 268,128 310,227

166 + CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

27 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 27 KRB ZHBERRARKRFEES &)
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Statement of Financial Position of the Company ERBZMBRRER ()
(continued)

As at 31 December

w+=—HA=+—H
2021 2020
—E—F TETEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current liabilities Bt A=Y
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,134 =
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEIH B AT RIE 2,877 2,956
Other payables and accrued liabilities HithENTIEREAEE 3,842 3,712
Total current liabilities mENBEEEE 8,853 6,668
Non-current liabilities EREMEE
Lease liabilities HEESRE 6,240 -
Total liabilities BR4EEE 15,093 6,668
Total equity and liabilities HETRAER 283,221 316,895
The Statement of Financial Position of the Company was KANBMBRARKEETGEN S22
approved by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2022 and was —BTOEBE#ETHUTEERAEE
signed on its behalf.
Yuen Feng Chung Cheuk Fan Marco
RIg EEH

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED %~ —4FE#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

27 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(continued)

Statement of Financial Position of the Company FRABZHBRRR (#)

(continued)

note (a) - Reserves movement of the Company

Miz(a)—Fs 2B ZHEED

27 KRR ZMBRARKFEEES (@)

Retained

Reserves earnings

A& REEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

As at 1 January 2020 R-ZE-_ZEF—H—H 183,530 154,226
Loss for the year FERE = (47,877)
Share option scheme FERCHEST B (1,019) 1,034
As at 31 December 2020 RZE2ZEFE+ZH=1+—H 182,511 107,383
As at 1 January 2021 N -_—F—HA—H 182,511 107,383
Loss for the year FEEE - (42,099)
Share option scheme FER ST 2 (1,459) 1,459
As at 31 December 2021 R —F+ZA=+—H 181,052 66,743
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B WA 5 R A B

28 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S 28 EEREREEENME
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEM=
Emoluments paid/payable to the Company’s directors by AEBBE_Z—HFRIZTERF
the Group during the years ended 31 December 2021 and +ZA=+—BIEEERAEXAREES
2020. 2 AR E
For the year ended 31 December 2021 BE_E”_—F+ZHA=+—HL
FE
Employer's
Salary contribution Discretionary
Director and  to pension bonuses
fee  commission scheme (note (a)) Total
ek  EIRHAE Rt
Name of director BEite Yk & HEEE (M) Mt

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TR AR TER

Executive Directors HITES:
Mr. Yuan Feng RERE 240 790 - - 1,030
Mr. Wu Fei it

(Resigned on 5 July 2021) (RZE-—E+tBRAEM 123 - - - 123
Mr. Chung Cheuk Fan Marco EEE ik

(Appointed on 5 July 2021) (R-E_—EtBRAEZD) 17 - - - 17

Non-executive Directors: FHTES:

Mr. Li Jiong e 120 - - - 120
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregory McCoy%c4E

(Resigned on 9 March 2021) (RZB-—-£=RAAED 3 - - - 3
Mr. Xu Jiangiang STEREE 120 - - - 120

Independent non-executive BUFHTEE

Directors:
Mr. Wu Jianfeng BRl#EE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield ~ Christopher Wesley Satterfield5 4 240 - - - 240
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia HEEL T 240 - - - 240

1,463 790 - - 2,253

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % " —4E#fi « 169
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28 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020

28 EXERSHREERNME &)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 5 o A B A

(a) EFM=E @

FE
Employer's
Salary contribution Discretionary
Director and to pension honuses
fee commission scheme (note (a)) Total
HER EBFRfE KRTEAL
Name of director Sy B Yk e HEE (MzEG) 1zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TET TEL TEL TAT
Executive Directors BES:
M. Yuan Feng =EBEE 240 879 - - 1,119
Mr. Wu Fei s 240 - - - 240
Non-executive Directors:  JEH{TES !
Mr. Li Jiong ZEEE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Stephen Gregory McCoy Stephen Gregon/ McCoyse
(Resigned on 9 March 2021) (RZZE_—E=ZANHED 120 = = = 120
Mr. Xu Jiangiang g vk 120 - - - 120
Independent non-executive BIFHITES
Directors:
M. Wu Jianfeng RalBks 240 - - - 240
Mr. Christopher Wesley Satterfield  Christopher Wesley Satterfield 54 240 - - - 240
Ms. Hu Zhaoxia EE 240 - - - 240
Mr. Jin Shaoliang %WH%E
(Resigned on 1 May 2020) (RZZZZFRA—HED 80 - - - 80
1,640 879 - - 2,519
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
no directors of the Group waived any emoluments and
no emolument was paid to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office.

note (a). Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled
to discretionary bonus payments which are determined
with reference to the Group's operating results, individual
performance of the directors and relevant market statistics
during the year.

Ao o U 5 R B

28 EEREREEENME @)

(a) EXM= (@

BE_ S -—GER-E-SE+_8
S+—BILEE BEAEREER
=EEMe BAEETESGHS
FEMES FAMAKEBRMA
B B0 52 D o 1F 28 BB AR 1 o

Mita): XRBDETFTHETEFTZANIEIT
B ARRIEN2EERNEE
EREEXE EENEARER
MR IB St BRI MEE

2021 2020
B “ETEHF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET
Emoluments paid or receivable in FEANREREES (FHRI2 AT
respect of a person'’s services as HEMBAB) NERFEmME S
a director, whether of the company FEU BB &
or its subsidiary undertaking 1,463 1,640
Emoluments paid or receivable in MEFREEEQNDNENE AR
respect of director’s other services EEMEAMARTS T E T IAEU
in connection with the management  AYEi<
of the affairs of the company or
its subsidiary undertaking 790 879
2,253 2,519

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED 2% ~—4FE#f; « 171



172

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

o o A 5 R B

28 DIRECTORS' AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid employees during the years ended
31 December 2021 and 2020 included one director,
details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 28 (a)
above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining non-
directors, highest paid employees during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

(b)

28 EEREREEENME @)

TamEEHAL

BE_Z_—FR-"TFTF+HA
=+t HLEEE IRE=HEES
BE—REF HNEsFBH N LM
28(a)  HERFEE RS FHEENE
ER_—ER-IEEET+TRA
=t+—BLEEENMEFBEEI W
T

2021 2020

—E—F “EBTTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHETT TFHET

Salary and commission HERAE 3,752 3,099
Employer's contribution to pension BERAREEEIHR

scheme - -

Discretionary bonuses FIETEAL 193 89

3,945 3,188

No emoluments have been paid to these individuals as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office during the years ended 31

=+—HLEHFE> *ﬁ#ﬁﬁ?#)\ifi
o B <2 1F 2% O0 A 2 52 B 30 0 A B R 2%

December 2021 and 2020. Eh sl (E 2 B B A (8 o
The emoluments of the highest-paid individuals of the Group rEBERSH AL GREEIN) 095 BN
other than the directors fall within the following bands: BRUTE#E !
2021 2020
T —F “E2TEF
Emolument bands M Es s
— HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 — 0% 7521,000,00078 7T 2 3
— HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 — 1,000,001875% 1,500,000 7T 2

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021



As at 31 December 2021, the Company had direct and indirect

29 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

interests in the following subsidiaries:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ao o U 5 R B

29 RMBARZIRE

R ZE_—F+"RB=+—H > &x2ARN

TIMB AR R BB

Particulars
of issued Equity
Place of incorporation Principal activities share capitall interest
Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
BRTRE/
GRS SRR AR R RER TEEBRCEM BRRAHE FENRE
LXL Capital | Limitedl 7o 4% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin US$800 100%
limited liability company Islands (direct)
HERUHEE RERR ZBREYHESE 800%7T 100%
BREFAH (B8
CLSA Premium Bullion Limited Hong Kong, Provision of leveraged bullion and HK$1,000,000 100%
limited liability company other trading services, Hong Kong (direct)
&8 eftERiETER 1,000,0003 7T 100%
BRERAH HMR SR &5 (B
CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited ~ New Zealand, Provision of leveraged foreign exchange NZD24,336,301 100%
limited liability company and other trading services, New (indirect)
Zealand
e ReftERIMNER 24,336, 3013 B HTT 100%
BRERAH HMR 5 R A (%)
CLSA Premium Pty Limited Australia, Provision of leveraged foreign exchange AUD15,664,108 100%
limited liability company and other trading services, Australia (indirect)
B feftERIMNER 15,664,108127z 100%
BRERAH EtRR S 0% 2 (%)
CLSA Premium International (HK) Hong Kong, Provision of management services, HK$100,000,000 100%
Limited limited liability company leveraged foreign exchange and other (indirect)
trading services, Hong Kong
&8 RHERRYE REINER 100,000,003 7T 100%
BREFAH HMR SR &5 (E#%)
LXL Capital Il Limited " British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin US$300 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
HERUHEE> RERR ZBREYHESE 300%7 100%
BREFAE (B
LXL Capital Il Limited 7ore#% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$600 100%
limited liability company Islands (indirect)
HERUHEE> RERR ZBREYHESE 600%7T 100%
BREFAE (B
CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % ——4F#j «
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29 RMBARZIRE (B

Particulars
of issued Equity
share capital/ interest

29 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place of incorporation Principal activities

Company name and kind of legal entity and place of operation paid-in capital held
BETRE/

GRS SRR AR ERER FTEEBRGEME BRRTHE FANRE

LXL Capital IV Limited %= British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%

limited liability company Islands (indirect)

REEXHE REZR RBRUHE 100%7T 100%

BREEAT (k)

LXL Capital VIl Limited 7t/ British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%

limited liability company Islands (indirect)

REEXHE REER RBRUHE 100%7T 100%

BRERAT Gk

LXL Capital V Limited 7% British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%

limited liability company Islands (indirect)

REEXHE REZER RBREUHE 100%7T 100%

BREEAT Gk

LXL Capital IX Limited %= British Virgin Islands, Investment holding, British Virgin Us$100 100%

limited liability company Islands (indirect)

REEXHE REZER RBRUHE 100%7T 100%

BRERAT Gk

Yorkastle Capital Limited Hong Kong, Investment holding, Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100%

limited liability company (indirect)

RHERERAT Yk REgR A 1,000,000/ 7 100%

BRERAT Gk

Zhuhai Yi Pu Li Business Consulting  People’s Republic of China, Inactive, People’s Republic of China RMB50, 166,020 100%

Services Limited* limited liability company (indirect)

hEFENBELIRGERAR PEARKAE EEE hEARLNE AEH50,166,0207T 100%

BREEAT Gk

note:  No audited financial statements have been prepared as these Bzt . BN ZEAB MR AR &EE
companies are incorporated in a jurisdiction which does not have ANEEBZRE Ol EmRN KT
any statutory audit requirements. e

* For identification only

1EH# 5
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES 30 RIltAR 5 RiEes

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, M—HFBENERIBEFENS —FHE
directly or indirectly, to control the other party or exercise MHERKERRE LS —FHEEEATE
significant influence over the other party in making financial and o ELERAME - HEESE
operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if DINEESIEAE

they are subject to common control.

For the outstanding balance due from or to related parties, net MEWNENEM AN REEEGTm S

amount is presented when the Group has a legally enforceable AEBEAHEGEIRGIEHECEIDEER
right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends to settle on a WIRZFHEEELEER 27 R EE

net basis.
(a) The Group had the following material transactions with its (a) XEBRERNEERHESEETHNE
related entities during the year: ARZWMTF .

2021 2020

T —F “ZBTEF

notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Hi&t FHET FHET

Transactions with related parties 2R A EITHRS
Amount paid for the provision of BT A B AT e k4 E“i >
software maintenance, upgrade and F+ AR B 2 IR AR RIFRIE
support services from:
— other related party —H AR S (i) 2,369 1,366

Amount received for the provision of BMUTRRWERHEIERFEH

management services from: IE

— other related parties —H A A (i) 2,700 2,538
Amount paid for the provision of AU TABZMIREEIEREN

management services from: I8

— other related party — HE fth R (ir) 702 621

CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED % ~—4E#ft « 17§
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
(continued)

(@) The Group had the following material transactions with its
related entities during the year: (continued)

notes:

(i) Amounts are paid for the provision of software maintenance,
upgrade and support services based on the terms on
agreement signed between parties.

(i) Amounts are received and paid for the sharing of the offices
based on the agreement signed between parties.

On 1 May 2021, CLSA Premium Pty Limited (“CLSAP AU"),
entered into a novation deed with two fellow subsidiaries of
the Group, namely CLSA Australia Services Pty Ltd (“CLSA
AS") and CLSA Australia Holdings Pty Ltd (“CLSA AH") for
CLSA AH to take up the rights of, and assume the obligations
of, CLSA AS under same terms and conditions of the Service
Level Agreement dated 14 February 2020 entered into
between CLSAP AU and CLSA AS.

(b) Key management includes directors (executive & non-
executive) and the remuneration of the key management
personnel of the Group are disclosed in Note 28.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021

30 RAMS R B R (&

() *&EERFRNEHBBMBERETHNE
ARZWMTE : (&

et -

() BUIRHERFAERE TR R SR PR T 2
R RIBDIRBET & PR RG] 2 17
BIRRMAERE °

(i) WEFTORHBITZHBELRARLE
T W B R 32 A< FYRRIE o

WZZZ—FHHB—H »CLSA
Premium Pty Limited (TCLSAP AU J) &2
KEEMERZRMEBEAS (BICLSA
Australia Services Pty Ltd (TCLSA AS )
K2CLSA Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
(TCLSA AHJ)) ST BEZE > AR
B REICLSA AHIRIRCLSAP AUEZCLSA
ASsTY BEA—Z"Z=F_A+M@
B 2 AR 75 7K % 17 5% =2 48 [EMR R R 5 4
BB CLSA ASZHEF R AIECLSA AS
Z &

(b) ZEETEEERE (BFERTRIEHR
TEER) RETEEE SR H MW
281K B o
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31 COMMITMENTS
Operating lease commitments
As lessee

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments in respect of an

31

R
KETHERIE
TEZATAN

SR> AEE AR —F R REE
WEEETERAMAENARREBEEEN

office under non-cancellable lease within one year as follows: FOREWT
2021 2020
—E—F —E==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Within one year —FRN 120 =
Capital commitments BAKIE

There is no capital commitment for the Group as at 31 December
2021.

R_ZE_—F+_A=+—H8 A&BL
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32 LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities from litigations with Banclogix
System Co., Limited

On 6 May 2020, the Company received a writ of summons
together with an indorsement of claim dated 6 May 2020 issued
in the High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region by Banclogix System Co., Limited (“Banclogix”, the
Group's then IT service provider) against the Company and
claims (i) that the termination of the IT service agreement by
the Company was wrongful; (ii) alleged termination payment
of HK$2.5 million, software maintenance fee of approximately
HK$450,000 and IT infrastructure fee of HK$1.5 million; and (ii)
alleged loss and damages to be assessed.

The above proceedings was heard together with the High Court
legal action started in 2019 by the Company (joined subsequently
by its three licensed subsidiaries as plaintiffs) against Banclogix
claiming for, among others, repudiatory breach of the IT service
agreement by Banclogix; return of the plaintiffs’ data, costs and
damages. The Company and Banclogix had a mediation on 23
June 2021. The parties did not reach an agreement.

These two legal proceedings with Banclogix are still ongoing
at the end of the reporting period and as at the date of this
report, and while the outcome and the potential financial impact
are subject to uncertainties and are not practically able to be
estimated, the Company’s directors consider that no provision is
required at this stage of the proceedings as the legal adviser of
the Company is cautiously optimistic about the outcome of the
two cases with Banclogix. The Company has been contesting the
claims made by Banclogix.

¢ CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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e R AEE
BREGESRKRAERARNRRBRZHARR

RIBE-EFERABNNH A B EE—H
BREGEEREBRAR (TRE) > AER
ERFCEAMNEREER) KEBFIT
HesE itRELAHEAZS _SFHA
NEZEASRERBEREZ  SHHAAQ
)V EA A DR IEEAR TR HEB
N S (i)IEFB AR LI 702,500,000 75~ ¥
HHEEBEL450,0008 TR EAR K ER
R M E 1,500,000 7T 5 K(ii)igfE s T
FEZEIREZTEERHRE

LitSHMREBERERE (BRA=ZRFEN
BREMAESRSEAN) HERER (B
mEE) REEREMMKRBE HE 5 &
BREANZBE REREZHEERER
BIEER _T-—NAFRARMZEFE
BERFR—HE A AR EBENR
T —FRAZ+=-HEET—RA%EZ
& BT WEEMWE -

RBRERRRNARS A BREZM
BERFRDEETT BRRBEMH
TENBRNZHEEZBERMGS F2
BAEERD BRERBEEEB Y RE
MBERGZERTEREBRE  HNIE
FEERB AP ARFMEFLEB - ARF—
EXREZRIEREIR-
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32 LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(continued)

Provision for penalty to be imposed by Financial
Markets Authority

On 23 June 2020, CLSA Premium New Zealand Limited (“CLSAP
NZ"), a subsidiary of the Company, received a statement of claim
filed by the Financial Markets Authority (“FMA") of New Zealand.
The FMA had filed on the High Court to impose a financial
penalty against CLSAP NZ for alleged breaches of the AML/CFT
Act for certain transactions occurred between April 2015 and
November 2018. The FMA alleged four causes of action against
CLSAP NZ under the AML/CFT Act: failure to conduct standard
and enhanced client due diligence; failure to terminate business
relationships; failure to submit suspicious transaction reports or
suspicious activity reports; and failure to keep records. CLSAP NZ
had filed an Notice of Admission and an Agreed Statement of
Facts with the FMA.

The penalty hearing had taken place on 5 July 2021. On 10
September 2021, the judgment is entered against CLSAP NZ for
the four civil liability acts and a pecuniary penalty of NZD770,000
has been imposed.

As disclosed in Note 22 of the consolidated financial statements,
the Group had recognised NZD1 million (approximately HK$5.6
million) as provision for the penalty during the year ended 31
December 2020. The claim has been settled during the current
year after the penalty has been paid in October 2021.

Ao o U 5 R B

A RIAEER (B
MERTIZEERBRF RS MRIELBE

RNZE_EEB_+=H ' A aR=B
‘ABCLSA Premium New Zealand Limited
(TCLSAP Nz)) WEIF AT BEE
B ((€MmEEER) 2cRRBME-
TRMTISEERARSZ AR HCLSAP
NZIEBIM —_ZE—HFNBEZZ—/\fF
+—BZETRZERAML/CFTAM M
SN EMMEEEBBRBEBAML/CFTEH
CLSAP NZIEH PUISHEFFIEEH © REEETT
BEREKR 2B BHBEE ; REKIEE
HRIMAR ; REERR AR B|REH ARG
RS ; ARAEIRIFECEER ° CLSAP NZE M
TMmEEEBIRIEMBENZ(Notice
of Admission)f %€= BRI EZ(Agreed
Statement of Facts)e

SHHBAER T E_—F B EHET
WZZEZ—F LA +H>CLSAP NZ3k
MIEREEETABER AR T EMU
770,000 FARI TSI R ©

MU S FERER F22FFINE > RER
REEZZZF+"A=1+—HBLEE
B s21,000,000% 7 B st (495,600,000
B FASRBE N2 -—51+H4
TR ERE BRREBRAEER R
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33

34

35

EFFECT ASSESSMENT OF THE COVID-19
OUTBREAK

The outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic has impacted economic
activities worldwide. Many countries have imposed restrictions
on non-essential services and business operations, and have
also implemented travel restrictions, border closures and other
quarantine measures that have significantly curbed the normal
movement of goods, services and people. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, the impact of COVID-19 have been
reflected in this set of consolidated financial statements.

The Group are taking steps to proactively manage the businesses
and take the necessary actions to ensure that the long-term
business prospects of the Group remain stable.

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified, to conform
with the current year's presentation and disclosures. The
Company'’s directors consider that such presentation would better
reflect the financial performance and position of the Group.

During the current year, loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment of approximately HK$698,000 was classified as “other
operating expenses”. The comparative amounts of approximately
HK$2,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 was reclassified
from “other income” to “other operating expenses” in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income to conform
with the current year presentation.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the Board of Directors on 14 March 2022.

e CLSA PREMIUM LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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